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BIONOMICS’
VISION
Bionomics is
discovering and
developing innovative
therapeutics, working
with partners to
maximise wealth for
shareholders.
In pursuing its vision
Bionomics will be
among the world
leaders for drug
discovery in its core
areas of CNS and
cancer.
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Operational Highlights
•
•
•
•
•

Acquisition of Iliad Chemicals adds two new clinical programs
Bionomics licenses childhood epilepsy tests to LabCorp
License to Genmab of cancer antibody targets generates new revenues
BNC105 chosen as Bionomics’ flagship cancer drug compound
Commercial Ready Grant accelerates development of BNC105

Financial Highlights
In the current financial year, with the two acquisitions completed, we are
concentrating on operating the company efficiently. The new ‘three-in-one’ company
has net cash burn levels of $4.2 million, well within our previous levels when we
were a purely genomics company. Importantly, we have focused our spending on
research and development, which represents about 80 per cent of our spending,
rather than overheads.
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Grant funding

Loss

Chairman and
CEO Message

Bionomics has significantly strengthened its position in the
biotechnology sector during the past year. Our science is
producing excellent results and our acquisitions have provided us
with a greater scope, particularly as we move towards ‘first in
human’ clinical trials of our lead compound, BNC105.
Until recently, Bionomics’ therapeutic development pipeline
comprised its epilepsy and anxiety compounds, but with the
strategic acquisitions of Neurofit and Iliad, we have expanded the
pipeline of products to increase the likelihood of success.
Our strategy of growth through acquisition has been endorsed by
our shareholders and the broader market. It is a proven strategy
employed by some of the best drug companies in the world to
achieve growth. Neurofit has given us the ability to undertake
in-house testing, while Iliad has delivered a chemical platform to
identify drug candidates more effectively. Both acquisitions have
provided strong synergies of people and technologies.
Early tests with BNC105 have indicated that it successfully
shuts down the blood supply to cancer cells, while leaving healthy
cells unaffected. We believe this will be a better treatment than
existing methods for improved patient outcomes. We expect
BNC105 to be a major new addition to the cancer treatments
currently available.
While our most advanced product is our lead cancer compound
BNC105, we also maintain a strong commitment to our anxiety,
multiple sclerosis (MS) and epilepsy research.

We are in the process of reinvigorating our Board to reflect the
new direction of the company. As a result three board members,
Dr Christopher Henney, Mr Peter Maddern and Dr George
Morstyn resigned during the year. We wish to thank them for
their contribution during Bionomics’ formative years and for their
leadership during their tenure. Mr Trevor Tappenden has now
joined the Board bringing a wide range of desirable skills following
a thirty year career at Ernst and Young. He fills a vital role as
Chair of the Audit and Risk Management Committee.
Finally, we would like to thank all the members of the Bionomics’
team for their continued support. Their combined efforts have
achieved a great deal to date and will continue to provide the
support essential for taking Bionomics to the next level of
development and success.

Peter Jonson
Chairman

Deborah Rathjen
CEO and Managing Director

“Bionomics is a solid research and
development company. The investigational
drugs in development are unique and it is their

Our strategy is to commercialise these programs at either the
preclinical or Phase I/II stages of development. The depth of our
pipeline and the competitiveness of our products provide the
company with strong licensing prospects. As a result, partnering
discussions have commenced in relation to each of our programs.
The acquisitions of Neurofit and Iliad have enabled us to fully
integrate our genomics research and drug compound research.
The company’s real value now lies in its drug candidates, a move
beyond genomics research.
The year ahead will see further development of our technology.
Our drug candidates in MS, anxiety and epilepsy will progress in
the development pipeline, while BNC105 will enter clinical trials
towards the end of 2007.

uniqueness that should allow the company to
license them after the completion of Phase I/II
trials. The company is capitalised at $31m and
is trading at a heavy discount to its Australian
peers. The quality of the technology, proven
capability to undertaken license deals and the
blue sky potential of the technology suggests
that it’s undervalued relative to its peers.”
Stockbroking firm Intersuisse
(May 2006)
BIONOMICS ANNUAL REPORT 2006
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Operational Report

Overview

A strong value proposition

As our lead drug candidate, BNC105,
approaches human clinical trials,
Bionomics will successfully make the
transition from a pure genomics company
to a drug development company. BNC105
is the first of what we believe will be many
proprietary drug candidates to enter a
commercialisation program.

STRENGTH OF PIPELINE: Multiple products - decreasing

risk, increasing opportunity
PLATFORM TECHNOLOGY: Foundation for future products

VALIDATION THROUGH GLOBAL PARTNERSHIPS:

Partner early, partner often. Revenue generating deals
ROBUST MANAGEMENT AND EXPERTISE: Vertically-

integrated business with internal expertise in biotech
management, drug discovery and development
FOCUS ON FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT: Integrated

business delivering value through pipeline progress whilst
maintaining lower cash burn.

Reducing risk delivers shareholder value
Product

Commercialisation trigger

Anticipated
Timing

Value*
(License fees comprised
of upfront and milestone
payments)

BNC105 (cancer)

Up to and including Phase I/II

2006-2008

>US$50 million

- Drug candidate selection

- Q2 2007

>US$50 million

- Complete Phase I

- Q2 2008

>US$150 million

- Drug candidate selection

- Q2 2007

>US$50 million

- Complete Phase I

- Q4 2008

>US$150 million

- Drug candidate selection

- Q4 2007

>US$50 million

- Complete Phase I

- Q4 2008

>US$150 million

clinical trial
Epilepsy

Anxiety

Multiple Sclerosis

Cancer antibody targets

Partnered with Genmab A/S in 2006

* Based on average industry deals, excluding recurring royalty payments
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Up to US$55 million

Generating value through licensing
Our revenue has grown this year from $1.3m in June 2005 to
$2.2m to 30 June 2006. This growth has resulted from two
major deals. In the first, we secured LabCorp in the USA to
undertake two genetic tests for the diagnosis of different forms
of childhood epilepsy. LabCorp is the second largest diagnostic
company in the US with revenues of about $US3 billion
per annum.
The tests licensed to LabCorp will assist physicians to distinguish
and treat a variety of seizure disorders that occur in infants and
young children. Bionomics received upfront fees and will also
receive royalties on the sale of the tests.
The second major deal was signed with the European biotech
company Genmab in February 2006. Under the licensing
agreement, Genmab acquired exclusive worldwide rights to
eight proteins with potential utility in cancer and other diseases,
identified and characterised by Bionomics using our proprietary
Angene® angiogenesis platform.
Under the terms of the deal, we received an upfront fee and
stand to receive additional licensing fees upon the first target
achieving specified preclinical and clinical milestones. We will
also receive milestone payments and royalties on sales for each
product that reaches the market.

Acquisitions redefine Bionomics’ business
As reported last financial year, Bionomics acquired the
Strasbourg-based pharmaceutical and biotechnology research
company, Neurofit SAS. Located within commuting distance of
Basel in Switzerland and Germany’s biotech hub, Neurofit has
provided us with excellent connections in the ‘bio-valley’ region
of Europe. The Neurofit acquisition also gives us greater access
to large companies engaged in central nervous system (CNS)
research. Our people in Strasbourg are also playing a valuable
role in our anxiety and MS programs through their in-house
testing capabilities.

Bionomics completed a second major acquisition this financial
year. In July 2005, we acquired the Melbourne-based company,
Iliad Chemicals Pty Limited. The Iliad acquisition added two
further programs to our pipeline, and the proprietary chemistry
from Iliad helped us to identify anti-cancer compound BNC105 as
our lead candidate. On the basis of this research, we received a
$3.7m commercial ready grant from AusIndustry in April 2006 to
develop BNC105.
Iliad’s MS program has been incorporated into our own pipeline,
along with Iliad’s MultiCore® chemistry platform. This is unique
chemistry which allows the rapid discovery of new compounds as
drug candidates. It is the engine driving our future, and will enable
more drugs to go into clinical development.
MultiCore® technology is a new synthetic process for classes
of drug-like compounds that have proven inaccessible using
traditional methods. For example, a number of natural products
of interest in drug discovery can now be synthesised efficiently
using this breakthrough approach. MultiCore® enables Bionomics
to optimise such leads to give the best performance.
The acquisitions of Neurofit and Iliad have transformed Bionomics
rapidly into a significant drug development company.

Clinical development a new priority
With BNC105 now entering a formal development program
Bionomics is poised to become a clinical stage company. The
other products in our pipeline to fight epilepsy, anxiety and MS
are also progressing strongly. Of our epilepsy compounds, one
has been the subject of intense study, and we will be targeting
drug candidate selection in the first half of 2007. Our candidate
MS compounds target a potassium channel and we have selected
a single compound to characterise in our anxiety project.

BIONOMICS ANNUAL REPORT 2006
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Spotlight on Our Lead
Drug Candidate - Cancer
Drug Shuts Down the Blood
Supply Fueling Tumours

BNC105: A vascular targeting agent

Bionomics discovered BNC105 from within a library of
compounds the company inherited with the acquisition of Iliad in

What is BNC105 and how does it work?

July 2005. The company successfully applied its Angene® drug

BNC105 is Bionomics’ cancer flagship, under development for

discovery platform to the identification BNC105 in the

the treatment of solid tumours. It is a member of the class of

Iliad library.

compounds known as vascular disruption agents, or VDAs.

At what stage of development is BNC105?
As solid tumours grow, they need new blood vessels to supply

BNC105 is in the preclinical stage of development. Bionomics

the cancer tissue with oxygen and nutrients. VDAs shut down

has shown in animal models of breast cancer that BNC105

blood vessels and have the effect of starving the tumour and

amplifies the effects of two commonly used chemotherapeutic

preventing growth.

agents—doxorubicin and 5-fluorouracil—in arresting tumour
growth. These effects are seen at about 1/15 the dose of another

A key benefit of BNC105 is the selective targeting of blood

VDA under development for breast cancer (Combretastatin A-4

vessels in cancers. With agents that target blood vessels, there

from US biotechnology company Oxigene).

is a risk of interfering with the blood supply to healthy tissues as
well as the tumour, but studies to date show that BNC105 leaves

Early research on the effect of BNC105 on the rate of endothelial

circulation to healthy tissues in tact.

cell multiplication showed it to be 100 times more effective at
preventing the growth of activated cells (ie cells treated with

Capillaries are the smallest of blood vessels and are the site at

growth factors) than quiescent cells.

which nutrients and other substances are exchanged between
tissues and blood. Their very thin walls consist of a single layer

BNC105 was then tested for its ability to prevent endothelial

of endothelial cells, which produce the protein tubulin (the target

cells in culture from organising themselves into capillaries.

of BNC105) needed for capillary formation. Endothelial cells

Once again, it prevented formation of capillaries from activated

normally exist in an activated state when forming new capillaries

cells, but did not disrupt capillaries after the cells had reached a

and return to a quiescent state in established capillaries.

quiescent state.

The endothelial cells in capillaries of solid tumours remain

Preclinical research has shown that BNC105 at about 1/10 of

activated because they produce higher than normal

the toxic dose was able to disrupt 95% of the blood flow in a

concentrations of the growth factors that promote the formation

mouse solid tumour after 24 hours. This relatively high potency

of new capillaries.

and the wide range of doses over which BNC105 shows VDA
activity suggest that there will be few side effects at the
therapeutic levels likely to be used in Phase I trials.

8
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Again in animal models, this disruption of tumour circulation

In the US, there are almost 41,000 new cases of brain tumour

appears to prevent tumour growth, as shown in preliminary

diagnosed each year, about 145,000 cases of colorectal cancer

experiments involving the treatment of mice with human solid

and about 270,000 cases of breast cancer, the most common

tumours on alternate days with BNC105 and 5-fluorouracil

cancer in women.

or doxorubicin.

Next steps for BNC105
Research is under way on the effect of BNC105 in a rat brain

BNC105 has been selected as Bionomics’ clinical development

tumour model and a mouse model of colon cancer.

candidate.

It is thought that BNC105 probably slows the natural shrinking

The immediate priority is to initiate planning for an

and extending of tubulin protein in endothelial cells. The selectivity

Investigational New Drug (IND) application with the US Food and

of BNC105 for capillaries from tumours may be due to the

Drug Administration (FDA). The company is currently assembling

appearance of different types of tubulin in endothelial cells under

an initial submission to the FDA and at the appropriate time

different circumstances. There are about 20 different types of

may request a pre-IND meeting with the FDA to consider any

tubulin with different structures in the region of the protein that

issues for which Bionomics seeks the input of the FDA.

binds BNC105 (which is also the target of paclitaxel).
It is the company’s intention to conduct clinical trials of BNC105
BNC105 is a clinical candidate. However, the first step on

under a US FDA approved IND in order to maximise the future

the way to Phase I is the cGMP manufacture of around 1.5

licensing value of the compound and to facilitate the clinical trial

kg for toxicology studies in rats. This is expected to be a

approval process in Australia.

straightforward contract manufacture that should be completed
by mid-December 2006. Preclinical toxicological studies are

Bionomics has assembled a group of advisors and contractors

scheduled for completion by July 2007 to provide data for an

with significant experience in oncology product development,

Investigational New Drug (IND) submission.

clinical trials and regulatory affairs to assist us to successfully
execute the BNC105 development plan. We have welcomed Dr

Which cancers will BNC105 potentially treat?

Danny Rischin, an oncologist with clinical trial experience with

From our current understanding of the way BNC105 works, it

vascular disrupting agents, Richard Morgan an expert

should theoretically be effective against most solid tumours.

toxicologist with Pharma experience, and US based regulatory

Bionomics is undertaking research on BNC105 in animal models

expert Dr Paul Nadler who provide advice on our submissions

of breast, brain and colon cancers, all common solid tumours.

to the US FDA and on both preclinical and clinical aspects of the
BNC105 development program.

BIONOMICS ANNUAL REPORT 2006
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Bionomics Pipeline

Aside from BNC105, Bionomics’ lead
drug compound, the company continues
to derive value from a robust pipeline of
novel compounds.

Epilepsy
Bionomics has, through its genomics research, gained a great
insight into the causes of epilepsy. It has used its knowledge of
epilepsy to develop and commercialise tests for the diagnosis of
childhood epilepsies and to undertake a drug discovery program
with the aim of identifying compounds with the potential to
become drugs with improved properties for the treatment of this
serious condition. Approximately 30% of patients with epilepsy
can’t gain control of their seizures with current medicines, whilst
others put up with occasional seizures and the significant sideeffects which are associated with current treatments.
Last year we indicated that our screening campaign on the GABAA receptor had been successfully completed with a large number
of compounds prioritised for further detailed evaluation. This
detailed evaluation, which was our major task for the year, has
now been completed with the identification of those compound
classes with the desired combination of properties which make
them excellent candidates for development as new therapeutics.
The compounds which are now undergoing intensive study
suppress seizures in preclinical models of epilepsy. Our aim
is to select our epilepsy drug candidate - a compound which
satisfies the stringent criteria of a compound to enter clinical
development.
Importantly the compound classes undergoing evaluation by
Bionomics have a history of safe pharmaceutical use.

10
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Anxiety
Our objective in our anxiety project has been to identify a lead
series of compounds suitable for development as an orally
bioavailable, non-sedating anxiolytic. This lead series has been
identified by Bionomics. Bionomics’ most advanced anxiety
compounds have been shown to reduce anxiety levels in rodent
models without increasing sedative side effects. These indications
are important because sedation is an unwanted side effect of
many drugs, in particular valium, currently used to treat anxiety.
As part of our program we have bench-marked our compounds
against valium as well as a Phase II compound from a major
Pharma company and we are very encouraged by the performance
of our compounds.
Bionomics’ subsidiary, Neurofit, is now playing an active role in
the evaluation of these compounds. Neurofit specialise in the
preclinical evaluation of CNS (central nervous system) active
compounds and has a strong customer base for its services
which includes both major pharmaceutical companies as well as
biotech companies.
Last year additional funding was made available to Bionomics’
epilepsy and anxiety programs under the Federal Government’s
R&D Start Grant scheme for an extended period. The original
$2.87 million grant to 30 June 2005 was boosted to $3.73
million with funding available to 30 June 2007.
In the coming year our objective is to nominate a compound as
our lead anxiety drug candidate, with a view to out-licensing this
project in line with our partner early and partner often strategy.

Multiple sclerosis
Multiple sclerosis (MS) is caused by the autoimmune destruction
of the sheath that surrounds certain nerve cells and affects nerve
conduction to and from the brain. MS is estimated to affect
over 2 million people worldwide. Bionomics is seeking to target
the cells of the immune system that cause this destruction via
a protein in the cell membrane that regulates the cells, the
potassium channel Kv1.3. The company has identified eight
compounds from five structural classes which will undergo further
evaluation as part of the process of drug candidate selection.
These compounds have demonstrated excellent selectivity for
Kv1.3 over other potassium ion channels, in particular the
cardiac channel HERG, and have shown in vivo efficacy in a model
of inflammation involving cells associated with the nerve damage
in MS. Our aim is to complete evaluation of these compounds,
selecting a clinical development candidate by the end of 2007.

Other Products

Epilepsy diagnostics

MultiCore®

Bionomics was the first company in the world to develop a
genetic test for severe myoclonic epilepsy of infants (SMEI), a
catastrophic form of epilepsy associated with frequent seizures
and, frequently, mental retardation. The SMEI Genetic Test is
under license to Athena Diagnostics in the US, Canada and Japan,
to Genetic Technologies Limited (GTG) for distribution worldwide
through the Gendia network of clinical laboratories and under a
licensing deal secured in November 2005 to LabCorp, America’s
second largest diagnostic company.

Bionomics’ MultiCore® technology involves a suite of integrated
methods for chemical synthesis that produces complex drug-like
molecules.

The company has since developed a test panel for Benign Familial
Seizures (BFS) which it licensed to LabCorp in FY05/06.
Benign familial seizures are convulsions that strike newborns
and babies in the first year of life and constitute a series of
related disorders. Bionomics’ BFS genetic test is based upon
the identification of mutations in three genes associated with the
condition.
Under the most recent deal for its epilepsy tests with LabCorp,
Bionomics received upfront license fees and will receive
recurring royalty payments on test sales. The development of
these tests and their commercialisation validates Bionomics’
genomics platform and demonstrates the company’s focus on the
commercialisation of its R&D.

Many marketed drugs and naturally-occurring bioactive molecules
have complex ring structures, which are known to have biological
activity. However, these complex molecules are often too difficult
to synthesise for drug discovery purposes.
By using MultiCore® technology, Bionomics can produce libraries
of compounds with drug-like characteristics directed towards the
target of interest. In addition, the synthesis technology is scalable
for commercial production.
Using MultiCore®, Bionomics can create new patentable
molecules that improve the properties of existing drug leads and
can be synthesised in fewer steps, thereby reducing the cost of
manufacture.
Thanks to the use of this technology, Bionomics was able to fast
track the development of BNC105, as well as make significant
progress in all areas of our pipeline. MultiCore®, together with
our Angene® and ionX® technologies, is the engine which will
drive future pipeline development and partnership opportunities.

BIONOMICS ANNUAL REPORT 2006
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Intellectual Property
Portfolio

Bionomics continues to build a strong
intellectual property portfolio, which
encompasses compounds undergoing
evaluation within its pipeline as well as
its genomics assets.
In line with the Company’s business
strategy to partner early – partner
often Bionomics is actively seeking

to out-license the assets within its
portfolio, including its impressive
genomics assets. Licenses, such as the
agreement with Genmab, allow Bionomics
to retain significant potential upside in
future antibody products for no further
investment.

Through the worldwide Patent Cooperation Treaty (PCT) mechanism, Bionomics and its related companies are
prosecuting 23 series of patents and patent applications. Bionomics has been granted 7 patents, as indicated in the
following table:
Patent Number

Country

Title

Grant Date

522372

New Zealand

Mutation associated with epilepsy.

9 December 2004

522888

New Zealand

Mutation associated with epilepsy.

12 May 2005

2001265698

Australia

Mutation associated with epilepsy.

9 March 2006

2004200978

Australia

Methods for the diagnosis and

6 April 2006

treatment of epilepsy
530258

New Zealand

Mutations in ion channels

11 May 2006

7078515

United States of America

Sodium-channel alpha1-

18 July 2006

subunit and their polypeptides
and their treatment of generalised
epilepsy with febrile seizures
7083927

United States of America

Novel gene BNO1 mapping to

1 August 2006

chromosome 16q24:3 gene

BIONOMICS ANNUAL REPORT 2006
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The published patent application portfolio for Bionomics and its related companies is summarised in the table below:
PCT Number

Patent Name and Description

Status

CNS
Australian Patent

Diagnostic and treatment methods relating to Autosomal

No. 701228*

Dominant Nocturnal Frontal Lobe Epilepsy (ADNFLE).

Granted in Australia.

Priority Date: 28 June 1995.
AU01/00541

Mutation in the beta-2 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor

Granted in New Zealand.

subunit associated with Nocturnal Frontal Lobe Epilepsy:
Genes, gene products and their therapeutic and diagnostic uses.
Priority Date: 11 May 2000.
AU01/00729

Mutation associated with epilepsy: GABA-A receptor subunit

Granted in New Zealand

genes, gene products and their therapeutic and diagnostic uses.

and Australia.

Priority Date: 20 June 2000.
AU01/01648

Sodium-channel alpha1-subunit and their polypeptides and their

Granted in United States

treatment of generalised epilepsy with febrile seizures plus: genes,

of America.

gene products and their therapeutic and diagnostic uses.
Priority date: 20 December 2000.
FR02/00934

Method for determining the therapeutic efficacy of a medicament

National phase in Europe.

against Parkinson’s Disease and/or Parkinson syndrome using a
fri/fri mouse as a model.
Priority date: 16 March 2001.
AU02/00910

Mutations in ion channels: various ion channel subunit genes,

Granted in New Zealand.

gene products and their therapeutic and diagnostic uses.
Priority date: 18 July 2001.
AU03/00351*

Therapeutic ion channel blocking agents and methods of use

International phase.

thereof: methods and compositions of matter.
Priority date: 20 March 2002.
AU2004/000295

Methods for the diagnosis and treatment of epilepsy: SMEI

Granted in Australia

diagnostic methods.
Priority date: 27 March 2003.
EP2004/05183

Use of piperazine phenothiazine derivatives, or a pharmaceutically

International phase.

acceptable salt or ester thereof, in the manufacture of a medicament
with neuroprotector and/or neurotrophic effects on CNS and/or PNS.
Priority date: 25 April 2003.
AU2004/001051

Mutations in ion channels: various ion channel subunit genes, gene
products and their therapeutic and diagnostic uses.
Priority date: 7 August 2003.

14
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International phase.

AU2004/001399

A diagnostic method for neonatal or infantile epilepsy syndromes:

International phase.

benign familial seizures panel diagnostic methods.
Priority date: 13 October 2003.
US Patent Appn
60/662051*

Novel potassium channel blockers and uses thereof: methods and

International phase.

compositions of matter.
Priority date: 15 March 2005.

US Patent Appn
11/262647

Sodium-channel alpha1-subunit and their polypeptides and their

International phase.

treatment of generalised epilepsy with febrile seizures plus: genes,
gene products and their therapeutic and diagnostic uses.
Priority date: 31 October 2005

20059031146

Methods for the diagnosis and treatment of epilepsy: SMEI

Provisional

diagnostic methods.
Priority date: 16 June 2005
AU2006/000333

Novel potassium channel blockers and uses thereof: methods and

International phase.

compositions of matter.
Priority date: 15 March 2005.

Cancer
AU2006/000192

Novel tubulin polymerisation inhibitors.

International phase.

Priority date: 14 February 2005
US Patent Appn
60/765337

Chemical compounds and processes: methods and compositions

Provisional.

of matter for vascular targeting agents
Priority date: 3 February 2006

AU02/00096

Novel gene BNO1 mapping to chromosome 16q24.3: gene, gene

National phase in Europe.

products and their therapeutic and diagnostic uses.
Priority date: 31 January 2001.

Granted in United
States of America

AU02/00099*

Synthesis for the preparation of compounds for screening as

Granted in New Zealand.

potential tubulin binding agents: methods and compositions of
matter for vascular targeting agents.
Priority date: 1 April 2001.
AU02/01282

AU2004/000383

DNA sequences for human angiogenesis genes: genes, gene

National phase in Australia,

products and their therapeutic and diagnostic uses.

Canada, Europe, Japan,

Priority date: 27 September 2001.

New Zealand and USA.

Method for identifying nucleic acid molecules associated with

International phase.

angiogenesis: methods, genes, gene products and their therapeutic
and diagnostic uses.
Priority date: 28 March 2003.
AU2005/001188

DNA sequences for human angiogenesis genes: genes, gene

International phase.

products and their therapeutic and diagnostic uses.
Priority date: 9 August 2004.
US Patent Appn

Chemical compounds and processes: methods and compositions

10/466769

of matter for vascular targeting agents.

Provisional.

Priority date: 14 February 2006.

* Patent exclusively licensed to Bionomics or related company.
BIONOMICS ANNUAL REPORT 2006
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Key Personnel

The Board of Directors
Dr Peter Jonson BComm (Hons), MA (Hons),
PhD, FAID, FASSA
Chairman
Dr Peter Jonson became Chairman of Bionomics in November
2004. Dr Jonson began his career with the Reserve Bank
of Australia where he became an internationally-recognised
economist and influential policy adviser. He subsequently gained
extensive experience at senior levels of the international financial
services industry, serving as Chief Executive Officer of Norwich
Union’s Australian business and Managing Director and then
Chairman of ANZ Funds Management. Dr Jonson has also
previously chaired the Federal Government’s Biotechnology Centre
of Excellence Expert Panel and the Major National Research
Facilities Committee, both of which were set up to advise
Federal Ministers on major strategic and investment decisions
affecting the biotechnology sector. Currently he is a director of
Village Roadshow Ltd, Pro Medicus Ltd, Australian Aerospace
and Defence Innovations Ltd and Metal Storm Ltd, and is the
Chairman of the Australian Institute for Commercialisation and
the Federal Government’s CRC Committee.
Dr Deborah Rathjen BSc (Hons), PhD
CEO and Managing Director
A seasoned biotech executive of almost 20 years, Dr Deborah
Rathjen joined Bionomics in June 2000 from Peptech Limited,
where she was Manager of Business Development and Licensing.
Dr Rathjen was a co-inventor of Peptech’s TNF technology and
leader of Peptech’s successful defence of its key TNF patents
against a legal challenge by BASF, providing Peptech with a strong
commercial basis for licensing negotiations with BASF, Centocor
and other companies with anti-TNF products. Dr Rathjen has
significant experience in research and product development,
intellectual property protection, business development and
licensing and has licensed a range of products including drug
delivery technologies, diagnostics, new therapeutics and cosmetic
products. She is an expert in the field of cell biology with specific
expertise in infection, inflammation and cancer. Dr Rathjen was
until recently Deputy Chair of the Federal Government’s Australian
Biotechnology Advisory Council, and is a current member of the
Prime Minister’s Science Engineering and Innovation Council
and the Industry Research and Development Board. In 2004 Dr
Rathjen was awarded the AusBiotech President’s Medal for her
significant contribution to the Australian biotechnology industry
and in 2006 received a Distinguished Alumni Award from Flinders
University.

16
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Dr George Jessup MB, BS, MBiomedEng, MBA
Non-Executive Director
Dr George Jessup is the co-founder and Managing Director of
Start-up Australia, a venture capital company which is active
in investing in biotechnology companies. Under his leadership,
Start-up Australia has raised $55 million and has been an early
stage investor in more than ten biotechnology companies. He
has been in the venture capital industry for more than ten years.
Dr Jessup has extensive experience in senior management roles
in the medical device and pharmaceutical industries, including a
role in the US as Global Director of Medical Affairs of the Medical
Device Division of an international pharmaceutical company
(American Cyanamid, later acquired by Wyeth). Dr Jessup is a
medical graduate and has worked in various clinical and research
positions at a number of Sydney teaching hospitals including
Prince of Wales, Prince Henry and Royal North Shore Hospitals.
Mr Trevor Tappenden ACA, FAICD
Non-Executive Director
Mr Trevor Tappenden commenced a career as a non-executive
director in 2003 after a career with Ernst & Young spanning 30
years. He holds directorships in various private, Government
and not for profit organisations. Mr Tappenden was a partner
of Ernst & Young from June 1982 to March 2003, during which
time he held a variety of positions including Managing Partner of
the Melbourne Office 1997 – 1999, Member of the Firm’s Board
of Partners 1998 – 2001, Head of the Victorian Government
Services Group 2001 – 2003 and National Director of the
Entrepreneurial Services Division 1993 – 1997.

Management
Dr Deborah Rathjen BSc (Hons), PhD
(CEO and Managing Director)
Mr Stephen Birrell BBus(Acc)
(Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)
Mr Stephen Birrell joined Bionomics following a 20 year career
which has spanned commercial management, financial, treasury
and company secretarial roles in a variety of industry sectors
including food, clothing, cosmetics, accounting and financial
services with local, national and international firms. In these roles
Mr Birrell gained experience with high growth companies and
mergers and acquisitions. Mr Birrell holds a Bachelor of Business
(Accounting) from Chisholm Institute of Technology (now David
Syme Business School, Monash University) and is a member of
CPA Australia and Chartered Secretaries Australia.

Dr Bernard Flynn BSc (Hons) PhD
(Vice President Chemistry)

Dr Frank Sams-Dodd, PhD, DSc
(Vice President of Pre-Clinical Research and General
Manager of Neurofit SAS)

Dr Bernard Flynn is the founder of Iliad Chemicals - acquired
by Bionomics in July 2005 – and inventor of the company’s
MultiCore® medicinal chemistry technology. He is a distinguished
medicinal chemist, having been a recipient of a Commonwealth
Post-graduate Research Award (1989), the Volks-Wagen
Fellowship (1993), an ARC Australian Research Fellowship
(1998), The Biota Award for medicinal chemistry (1998) and
most recently the Young Tall Poppy Award for achievement in
science (2003). Dr Flynn was the first Senior Lecturer appointed
to teach the first specialist medicinal chemistry degree course
offered in Australia, at the Victorian College of Pharmacy. He has
a BSc(Hons) from the University of Melbourne and a PhD from
Adelaide University.

Dr Frank Sams-Dodd joined Bionomics in January 2006 from
Boehringer Ingelheim Pharma, where he was responsible for
pre-clinical research in Alzheimer’s Disease and psychiatric
disorders. He has a MSc degree in ethology from Copenhagen
University, a PhD degree from Cornell University in neurobiology
and received in 2001 an honorary doctoral degree (Drmed /
DSc) in medicine from Copenhagen University. Previous positions
include Research Fellow at H. Lundbeck A/S; founding a company
offering contract research, licensing and consulting services to
the pharmaceutical industry; and being Director of Physiology at
Amylin Pharmaceuticals, Inc. San Diego in the area of metabolic
disorders.

Dr Gabriel Kremmidiotis BSc (Hons), PhD
(Vice President Cancer Research)

Dr Ian Street BSc (Hons), PhD, MRACI CChem
(Vice President Drug Discovery)

Molecular geneticist and immunologist Dr Gabriel Kremmidiotis
joined Bionomics as Head of Bioinformatics in January 2002
and his role has since expanded to Vice President of Cancer
Research. Formerly Senior Medical Scientist at the Department
of Cytogenetics & Molecular Genetics at the Women’s &
Children’s Hospital in Adelaide, Dr Kremmidiotis has several
patent inventions on breast cancer tumour suppressor genes,
including Bionomics’ BNO64 and BNO1 genes as well as other
tumour suppressor genes. Dr Kremmidiotis has PhD and a
Bachelor of Science (Honours) from Flinders University of
South Australia and a Bachelor of Science from The University
of Melbourne. He has published research findings in 22
internationally-recognised scientific publications including Cell,
Human Molecular Genetics and American Journal of Human
Genetics, and is a member of the Human Genetics Society of
Australasia.

Dr Ian Street, a chemist and enzymologist, is one of Australia’s
leading experts in high throughput screening and drug discovery.
He is also currently Head of the High Throughput Chemical
Screening Facility at the Walter and Eliza Hall Institute (WEHI).
Dr Street’s previous experience includes establishing and
managing the high throughput screening groups at Amrad
Discovery Technologies Pty Ltd, its spinout company Cerylid
Biosciences Pty Ltd, and the Merck Frosst Centre for Therapeutic
Research in Montreal, Canada. In the early 1990s Dr Street
was responsible for developing and executing the first high
throughput screening projects conducted within Merck Research
Labs. In recent years he was appointed Deputy Director of the
Cooperative Research Centre for Cellular Growth Factors where
he was responsible for organising the drug discovery activities of
the Centre until July 2004.

Dr Steve Petrou, BSc (Hons), PhD
(Vice President CNS Research)
Dr Steve Petrou was appointed Vice President, CNS Research
in January 2003. In addition to this role, Dr Petrou is a Senior
Research Fellow at the Howard Florey Institute for Experimental
Physiology in Melbourne. Dr Petrou has extensive experience in
leading a team focused on channelopathies (the study of human
diseases that involve ion channel dysfunction), including the study
of the molecular and physiological basis of inherited epilepsies. Dr
Petrou was responsible for the development of the world’s first
animal model of inherited epilepsy.

Dr Alex Szabo PhD, MBA
(Vice President Business Development)
Dr Alex Szabo was appointed Bionomics’ Vice President of
Business Development in January 2005. Prior to joining the
company he was successively Vice President of Business
Development for Cerylid Biosciences and for Starpharma, two
Melbourne-based drug discovery companies. In these roles,
he successfully initiated and negotiated a number of revenuegenerating drug discovery and licensing agreements. Before that,
Dr Szabo was Vice President of Marketing at Stratagene in San
Diego, USA, where he had global responsibility for marketing and
business development activities. Dr Szabo had previous positions
with biotech industry leaders Affymetrix, Beckman-Coulter and
Pharmacia Biotech. He has held research positions at Stanford
University, the Sloan-Kettering Institute and the Pasteur Institute.
He is the recipient of a BA Degree in Biophysics from the UC,
Berkeley, a PhD in Biochemistry from MIT and an MBA from
Santa Clara University.
BIONOMICS ANNUAL REPORT 2006

17

Corporate Governance Statement
Bionomics Limited (the Company) and the Board are committed
to achieving and applying a high standard of corporate governance
taking into consideration the Company’s size and the industry in
which the Company operates.

•

The Company’s framework is consistent with the Australian
Stock Exchange (ASX) Corporate Governance Council (ASX CGC
guidelines) and some operational changes have been made as
a result of both the review process to date and other recent
governance developments.

•

The relationship and division of responsibilities between the Board
and key management personnel are critical to the Company’s
long-term success. The directors are responsible to the
shareholders for the performance of the Company in both the
short and the longer term and for seeking an appropriate balance
between sometimes competing objectives in determining the best
interests of the Company. Their focus is to enhance the interests
of shareholders and to ensure the Company is properly governed.

•

Day to day management of the Company’s affairs, including the
implementation of its approved strategy and policy initiatives,
is delegated by the Board to the Chief Executive Officer and
Managing Director and key management personnel, except
for matters expressly required by law to be approved by the
Board. This delegation process has been formalised by the
documentation of responsibilities between the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director and incorporated
into the Board’s charter.
The following corporate governance framework has been
implemented to ensure the highest level of corporate governance
is achieved:
•
•

•

•

the board has established an internal control framework
focusing on key business risks;
the company has adopted a code of professional ethics
and conduct which applies to all directors, officers and
employees;
the board has implemented strict policies regarding related
party transactions and the acquisition and disposal of the
company’s securities by directors, officers and employees;
and
the company has adopted clear reporting and communication
policies and procedures.

A description of the Company’s main corporate governance
practices is set out below. All these practices, unless otherwise
stated, were in place for the entire year.
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board of Directors (the Board) operates in accordance with
the broad principles now formally set out in its charter (Board
Charter) that is available from the corporate governance section
of the Company website at www.bionomics.com.au. The Board
Charter details the Board’s composition and responsibilities and
was approved at the August 2005 Board meeting.
The Board Charter (inter alia) states:

18

BIONOMICS ANNUAL REPORT 2006

•

the Bionomics’ Board will at all times recognise its
overriding responsibility to act honestly, fairly, diligently,
and in accordance with the law in fulfilling its primary
responsibility of looking after the interests of Bionomics’
shareholders. These interests are well served by also taking
into consideration the interests of other stakeholders such as
employees and affiliated institutions.
the Board is to be comprised of both executive and nonexecutive directors with a majority of non-executive directors.
in recognition of the importance of independent views and the
Board’s role in supervising the activities of management, the
majority of the Board must be independent of management
and all directors are required to bring independent judgement
to bear in their Board decision making.
the Board shall undertake an annual Board performance
evaluation to identify any improvements necessary for both its
operations and the Board Charter.

Responsibilities of the Board
The responsibilities of the Board include:
• approving the strategic direction, objectives and annual
financial budget of Bionomics and monitoring the
implementation of those strategies and achievement of those
objectives and budget.
• monitoring compliance with regulatory requirements and
ethical standards.
• appointing, and reviewing the performance of the Chief
Executive Officer and Managing Director and of the
performance of the Chief Executive Officer’s direct reports in
achieving corporate goals.
• approving announcements to shareholders and the ASX.
• approving significant third party agreements.
• issuing shares, options, equity instruments or other
securities.
• developing Bionomics’ corporate governance procedures,
systems of risk management and internal compliance and
control, codes of conduct (including human resources
policies), and legal compliance.
• approving and monitoring the progress of major capital
expenditure, capital management, and acquisitions and
divestures.
• assessing the composition of the Board and reviewing its
processes and performance.
Board Members
Details of the members of the Board, their experience, expertise,
qualifications, term of office and independence status are set
out in the Directors’ Report under the heading ‘Information on
Directors’. At the date of signing the Directors’ Report there
were three non-executive directors (including the Chairman), two
of whom are deemed independent under the principles set out
below, and one executive director.
The Board seeks to ensure that, cognisant of the state of
development of Bionomics as a company:
•

at any point in time, its membership as a group has expertise
in areas of current and future importance to the Company as
it grows.

Corporate Governance Statement
•

the size of the Board is conducive to effective discussion and
efficient decision-making.

Directors’ Independence
The Board has adopted specific principles in relation to directors’
independence. These state that to be deemed independent, a
director must be one who is independent of management and
free of any business or other relationship that could materially
interfere with – or could reasonably be perceived to materially
interfere with – the exercise of their unfettered and independent
judgement.
Issues relating to an assessment of the independence of
a director will be determined by reference to the guidance
provided by the ASX CGC guidelines. The Board shall determine
the thresholds of materiality from the perspective of both the
Company and its directors in determining whether a director
maintains his or her independence of mind.
As Dr George Jessup has an interest in Start-up Australia
Ventures Pty Limited, which is a substantial holder of Bionomics
shares, he is not defined as an independent director.
Term of Office
The Company’s Constitution specifies that all non-executive
directors must retire from office no later than the third AGM
following their last election.
Role of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and
Managing Director
The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board, ensuring
directors are properly briefed in all matters relevant to their role
and responsibilities, facilitating Board discussions and managing
the Board’s relationship with the Company’s key management
personnel.
The Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director is responsible
for implementing the Company strategies and policies.
Commitment
Typically ten Board meetings and an additional corporate strategy
review are held each year. At least two Board meetings and the
strategy review are face to face meetings. Other meetings of the
Board occur with some Board members attending via phone.
The number of meetings of the Company’s Board and of each
Board committees held during the year ended 30 June 2006, and
the number of meetings attended by each director is disclosed in
the Directors’ Report under the heading ‘Meetings of Directors’.
It is the Company’s practice to allow its executive director to
accept appointments outside the Company with prior written
approval of the Board.
Conflict of Interests
All Board members are required as a continuing obligation to
immediately notify the Board in writing of any actual or potential
conflicts of interest or any circumstance that may affect a Board
member’s level of independence.

Independent Professional Advice
Directors may seek independent professional advice, at the
expense of the Company, on any matter connected with the
discharge of their responsibilities. Prior written approval of the
Chairman is required, but this will not be unreasonably withheld.
Copies of this advice will be made available to, and for the benefit
of, all Board members at the discretion of the Chairman.
Performance Assessment
In line with the timetables setting out the adoption of the ASX
CGC guidelines the Board undertakes an annual self assessment
comparing its performance with the requirements of the
Board Charter. In this process, the Chairman meets directors
individually to assess how Board performance may be improved.
CORPORATE REPORTING
For each of the half year and full year results, the Chief Executive
Officer and Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer are
required to make the following certifications to the Board:
•

•

that the Company’s financial reports are complete and
present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the
financial condition and operational results of the Company and
are in accordance with relevant accounting standards.
that the above statement is founded on a sound system of
risk management and internal compliance and control which
implements the policies adopted by the Board and that the
Company’s risk management and internal compliance and
control are operating efficiently and effectively in all material
respects.

The Company first adopted this reporting structure from the half
year ended 31 December 2003.
BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established two committees to assist in the
execution of its duties and to allow detailed consideration of
complex issues. Current committees of the Board are the
Compensation and the Audit and Compliance Committees. Each
committee is comprised entirely of non-executive directors.
All matters determined by committees are submitted to the full
Board as recommendations for final Board decision. Minutes of
committee meetings are tabled at a subsequent Board meeting.
Additional requirements for specific reporting by the committees
to the Board are addressed in the charter of the individual
committee.
There is no formal nomination committee for the Company.
Nominations for the Board are considered by the full Board as
part of normal business reviewed by the Board at its regular
meetings.
Under the Board Charter, in the event that the Board believes
a new director should be appointed, the Board shall review the
range of skills, experience and expertise currently existing on the
Board in relation to areas of current and future importance to
the Company as it grows. Candidates are assessed against this
review of needs and, where appropriate, advice is sought from
independent search consultants.
BIONOMICS ANNUAL REPORT 2006
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Where the Board appoints a suitable candidate that person must
stand for election at the next AGM of the Company.
Notices of meeting for the election of directors comply with the
ASX CGC guidelines.
New directors will be provided with a letter of appointment
setting out the Company’s expectations, their responsibilities,
rights and the terms and conditions of their appointment.
Compensation Committee
The Compensation Committee consists of the following nonexecutive directors:

•

Details of the remaining directors’ qualifications and all
attendance at Audit and Compliance Committee meetings are set
out in the Directors’ Report.
The Audit and Compliance Committee has its own charter
setting out its role and responsibilities, composition, structure,
membership requirements and the manner in which the
Committee is to operate. This charter is available on the
Company website. The main responsibilities of the Committee
are to:
•

•
•
•

Dr George Jessup (Chairman)
Dr Peter Jonson
Dr Christopher Henney (resigned 30 June 2006)

•

Details of these directors’ attendance at Compensation
Committee meetings are set out in the Directors’ Report.
The Compensation Committee advises the Board on remuneration
and incentive policies and practices generally, and makes specific
recommendations on remuneration packages and other terms of
employment for executive directors and non-executive directors.
All key management personnel sign a formal employment contract
at the time of their appointment covering a range of matters
including their duties, rights, responsibilities and any entitlements
on termination. A formal establishment of annual objectives and
subsequent evaluation of performance including a half-year review
is conducted by the Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director
with all key management personnel who report directly to that
position.
Further information on directors’ and key management
personnel’s remuneration is set out in the Directors’ Report and
note 24 to the financial statements.

Audit and Compliance Committee
During the year, the Audit and Compliance Committee as a group
possessed both relevant financial qualifications and experience
and an understanding, based on appropriate experience, of the
biotech industry in which the Company operates.
The Audit and Compliance Committee consisted of the following
non-executive directors:
•
•
•
•

Mr Peter Maddern (Chairman) (resigned 30 June 2006)
Dr Peter Jonson
Dr George Morstyn (resigned 16 June 2006)
Dr George Jessup
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review, assess and recommend to the Board the annual
financial report and the half-year financial report.
assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities
through reviewing:
- the financial reporting process,
- the system of internal control and management of
financial risks,
- the audit process; and,
- the Company’s process for monitoring compliance with
laws and regulations.

Included in these responsibilities, the Audit and Compliance
Committee:
•
•
•

reviews the external auditors’ proposed audit scope and
approach and their performance.
makes recommendations to the Board regarding the reappointment of the external auditors.
considers the independence of the external auditors including
the range of non-audit related services provided by the
external auditors to the Company.

In fulfilling its responsibilities, the Audit and Compliance
Committee:
•

The Compensation Committee has responsibility for reviewing
any transactions between the Company and the directors, or any
interest associated with the directors, to ensure the structure
and the terms of the transaction is in compliance with the
Corporations Act 2001 and is appropriately disclosed.

Mr Trevor Tappenden (Chairman) (appointed 15 September 2006)

•
•

•

•
•

receives regular reports from management and external
auditors.
meets with external auditors at least twice a year or more
frequently if necessary.
reviews whether management is adopting systems and
processes sufficient for a company of Bionomics’ size and
stage of development.
reviews any significant disagreements between the external
auditors and management, irrespective of whether they have
been resolved.
meets separately with external auditors at least twice a year
without the presence of management.
provides external auditors with a clear line of direct
communication at any time to either the Chairman of the
Audit and Compliance Committee or the Chairman of
the Board.

The Audit and Compliance Committee has authority, within the
scope of its responsibilities, to seek any information it requires
from any employee or external party and to obtain external legal
or other professional advice.

Corporate Governance Statement
EXTERNAL AUDITORS
The Board’s policy is to appoint external auditors who clearly
demonstrate quality and independence. The performance of the
external auditor is reviewed annually by the Audit and Compliance
Committee which also makes recommendations to the Board
about the appointment of audit services for subsequent periods,
taking into consideration assessment of performance, existing
value and costs.
PricewaterhouseCoopers were appointed as the external
auditors in 1996 and a new engagement partner was introduced
for the year ended 30 June 2005. From 30 June 2005,
PricewaterhouseCoopers’ policy is to rotate engagement partners
every five years.
An analysis of fees paid to the external auditors, including a
breakdown of fees for non-audit services, is provided in note
25 to the financial statements. It is the policy of the external
auditors to provide an annual declaration of their independence to
both the Audit and Compliance Committee and the Board.
The external auditor is requested to attend the AGM and be
available to answer shareholder questions about the conduct of
the audit and the preparation and content of the audit report.
RISK ASSESSMENT AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board, through the Audit and Compliance Committee, is
responsible for ensuring there are adequate policies in relation
to risk management, compliance and internal control systems.
In summary, Company policies are designed to ensure significant
strategic, operational, legal, reputational and financial risks are
identified, assessed, and effectively monitored and managed in a
manner sufficient for a company of Bionomics’ size and stage of
development to enable achievement of the Company’s business
strategy and objectives.
The Company’s risk management policies are managed by the
key management personnel and are reviewed by the Audit and
Compliance Committee according to a timetable of assessment
and review proposed by that Committee and approved by
the Board.
ENVIRONMENTAL AND OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY
MANAGEMENT POLICIES
The Company recognises the importance of occupational health
and safety (OH&S) and is committed to the highest levels of
performance. To help meet this objective, policies have been
established to facilitate the systematic identification of OH&S
issues and to ensure they are managed in a structured manner.
This system allows the Company to:
•
•

monitor its compliance with all relevant legislation; and
encourage employees to actively participate in the
management of OH&S issues.
The Company is in full compliance with all necessary
environmental and other licensing requirements required for
its research facility in Thebarton (South Australia), Bundoora
(Victoria) and for Neurofit SAS (Neurofit) in France.

CODE OF CONDUCT
In its Board Charter, the Board has recognised its overriding
responsibility to act honestly, fairly, diligently, and in accordance
with the law in fulfilling its primary responsibility of looking after
the interests of Bionomics’ shareholders. The Board believes that
the interests of shareholders are best served by also taking into
account the interests of other stakeholders such as Bionomics’
employees and individuals engaged in Bionomics’ directed
research at Bionomics’ affiliated institutions.
The Board will work to promote and maintain an environment
within Bionomics that establishes these principles as basic
guidelines for all of its employees.
During 2005-2006 Bionomics formalised a code of business
conduct and ethics. A number of policies that relate to business
conduct are already in place including harassment prevention and
share trading.
Copies of the share trading policies for directors and for
employees are available on the Company’s website.
CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE AND SHAREHOLDER
COMMUNICATION
The Company has written policies and procedures on information
disclosure that focus on continuous disclosure of any information
concerning the Company that a reasonable person would expect
to have a material effect on the price of the Company’s securities.
These policies and procedures also include the arrangements
the Company has in place to promote communication with
shareholders and encourage effective participation at AGMs.
These policies and procedures are available on the Company’s
website.
The Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director has been
nominated as the person responsible for communications with
the ASX. This role includes responsibility for ensuring compliance
with the continuous disclosure requirements in the ASX Listing
Rules and overseeing and co-ordinating information disclosure to
the ASX, analysts, brokers, shareholders, the media and
the public.
All announcements disclosed to the ASX are posted on the
Company’s website as soon as practical after disclosure to
the ASX. Procedures have also been established for reviewing
whether any price sensitive information has been inadvertently
disclosed, and if so, this information is also immediately released
to the market.
All shareholders receive a copy of the Company’s annual
report. In addition, the Company seeks to provide opportunities
for shareholders to participate through electronic means.
Recent initiatives to facilitate this include making all Company
announcements, details of Company meetings, press releases
for the last three years, and financial reports available on the
Company’s website along with transcripts to the Chairman’s and
Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director’s addresses to the
Company’s AGMs.
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The website also includes a feedback and information request
mechanism for investors and shareholders via the Contact Us
page of the website.
AUSTRALIAN EQUIVALENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (AIFRS)
Information relating to the impact of AIFRS is set out in note 33
to the financial statements.
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Directors’ Report
Your directors present their report on the financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2006, comprising the
parent entity Bionomics and it subsidiaries.
Directors
The following persons were directors of Bionomics during the
period and up to the date of this report:
•
•
•
•

Dr Peter Jonson, Non-Executive Chairman
Dr Deborah Rathjen, Chief Executive Officer and
Managing Director
Dr George Jessup, Non-Executive Director
Mr Trevor Tappenden, Non-Executive Director (appointed 15
September 2006)

The following persons were non-executive directors until their
resignations:
•
•
•

Dr Christopher Henney (30 June 2006)
Mr Peter Maddern (30 June 2006)
Dr George Morstyn (16 June 2006)

Principal Activities
The principal activities of the Group during the period were:
•

•
•

to undertake research and development utilising the Group’s
proprietary technology platforms with the aim of identifying
and developing therapies to treat cancer and conditions of the
Central Nervous System (CNS), including epilepsy, anxiety and
multiple sclerosis.
to commercialise intellectual property assets.
to identify strategic alliances and project opportunities
capable of increasing shareholder value and of enhancing the
competitive advantage of the Group within the biotechnology
industry.

Operating Results
Revenue for the year to 30 June 2006 increased by 67% to
$2,263,204. Grant funding for the period was $2,309,331.
This compared with revenues of $1,356,319 and grant funding
of $1,817,043 for the year to 30 June 2005. The operating loss
of the Group for the year to 30 June 2006 was $5,396,950
compared with the prior year loss of $4,899,150.
Dividends
The directors do not propose to make any recommendation for
dividends for the current financial year.
Review of Operations
Rapid Progress in Therapeutics Development
Through the acquisitions of Iliad Chemicals Pty Limited (Iliad) and
Neurofit SAS (Neurofit) in 2005, Bionomics gained access to the
technology required to move its business focus further up the
value chain from genomics to drug discovery and development.
Bionomics has moved rapidly to capture the synergies of these
acquisitions and Bionomics today has a strong pipeline of new
therapies in preclinical development for the treatment of cancer,
epilepsy, anxiety and multiple sclerosis.

Cancer – Preparation for Clinical Testing of
BNC105 on Track
In April 2006, Bionomics announced the selection of BNC105 as
its drug candidate for the treatment of solid cancers. BNC105
was selected after a rigorous testing program of a large number
of compounds which were considered to have the right properties
for a next generation cancer treatment. BNC105 was selected
because it has potent anti-cancer activity which selectively shuts
down the blood supply of tumours without affecting normal blood
vessels. BNC105 is a more effective agent than its leading
competitor when the two are tested head to head in preclinical
models of cancer. As we move forward into 2007, Bionomics
anticipates the achievement of significant milestones which are
aimed at having BNC105 in clinical testing in late 2007. These
milestones include completing the large scale manufacture of
BNC105 to be used in clinical trials, the completion of the formal
toxicology program and the filing of an Investigational New Drug
(IND) application with the US Food and Drug Administration
(US FDA).
Epilepsy – Progress Sees Bionomics Closer to the
Selection of Anti-epileptic Drug Candidate
Bionomics’ epilepsy program has made great strides in 20052006, with the completion of our high throughput screening
campaign and subsequent evaluation of the compounds identified
in that campaign. We are now evaluating a number of GABA-A
receptor modulating compounds in the next phase of the project
plan which is aimed at the selection of a development candidate
for the treatment of epilepsy. Benchmarking of the preferred
compound under study by Bionomics indicates that this compound
is able to very effectively suppress a broader range of seizure
phenotypes than marketed anti-epilepsy drugs, without apparent
side-effects. These findings, if translated to human clinical
use, would represent a significant advance in the treatment of
epilepsy.
Anxiety – Strong Suppression of Anxiety
Without Sedation
A strong medicinal chemistry effort has now yielded compounds
which demonstrate anxiolytic activity in preclinical models without
the key side-effect of sedation. The compounds currently under
investigation are novel with the potential for a strong intellectual
property position which Bionomics will seek to protect in the
coming months through new patent applications. Drug candidate
selection is anticipated mid 2007.
Multiple Sclerosis – A Targeted Approach which
Promises Fewer Side-effects
Bionomics is pioneering a new approach to the treatment of
Multiple Sclerosis through the blockade of a potassium channel,
Kv1.3. Effective and specific block of Kv1.3 on immune cells which
attack nerve cell is anticipated to reduce nerve cell damage in
this serious disease.
Good progress in medicinal chemistry this year has seen
improvements in the solubility and metabolic stability of the
compounds discovered by Bionomics, in addition to improved
potency. With new preclinical data confirming effective antiinflammatory activity this project is well positioned to achieve
drug candidate selection in late 2007.
BIONOMICS ANNUAL REPORT 2006
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Commercialisation
With the Group’s therapeutic development pipeline making rapid
progress towards high value milestones and a well defined
commercial strategy, prospects for the commercialisation of
Bionomics’ therapeutics assets are strong. The Group is currently
in licensing discussions with the objective of a significant licensing
deal within the next 12 months.

Earnings Per Share

In parallel with developing our own therapeutic products we have
continued the commercialisation of Bionomics’ non-core assets.

The alternative earnings per share amounts have been calculated
to demonstrate the impact on basic earnings per share should
all options on issue at 30 June 2006 be converted to ordinary
shares. These options are anti-dilutive.

Bionomics successfully licensed a series of eight validated drug
targets to the large European biotechnology company Genmab
A/S (Genmab). The patented drug targets show promise as new
targets for modulating angiogenesis and for the treatment of
cancer. Angiogenesis is the process of new blood vessel growth
and its modulation has implications for the treatment of solid
tumours as well as for serious inflammatory diseases. Under the
exclusive licensing agreement with Genmab, Bionomics received
an upfront payment and stands to achieve significant milestone
payments as antibody products achieve development and
regulatory success. Bionomics will also be eligible for royalties
on those antibody product sales. Genmab is a substantial
biotechnology company with well recognised expertise in
developing human antibody therapeutics. Currently capitalised at
US$900 million and in a very strong financial position, Genmab
have the resources to progress this valuable intellectual property
whilst Bionomics’ focuses on its own pipeline.
In June 2006 Bionomics’ licensee of the genetic tests for epilepsy
in children, Laboratory Corporation of America (LabCorp),
launched the first of two licensed tests into the North American
market. The launch of the second licensed test for benign
seizures in children by LabCorp is anticipated shortly. LabCorp
joins Boston-based Athena Diagnostics in providing testing
services in North America for children with epilepsy which utilise
Bionomics proprietary technology.
Outlook
Bionomics now has one of the strongest therapeutic development
pipelines in the Australian biotechnology sector and is well on
its way to being a clinical development company. BNC105 is
a compound with exciting prospects which is out-performing
its competitors in preclinical tests. Our epilepsy program has
made strong progress which, if maintained, will see Bionomics
with a second clinical stage compound at the end of 2007. All
of this is in line with the Board’s vision for creating substantial
shareholder value through drug discovery and development with
the aim of having two drugs in clinical trial in 2008. The strength
of Bionomics pipeline has significantly heightened the Group’s
commercial prospects which will be pursued with vigour in the
coming year.
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Consolidated
2006
2005
Cents
Cents
Basic and diluted earnings per share (3.4)
Alternative earnings per share
(2.1)

(7.6)
(4.8)

The basic and alternative earnings per share amounts have been
calculated using the ‘Loss after related income tax expense’
figure in the income statements.
Significant Changes in the State of Affairs
Significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the
financial year were as follows:
2006
$
An increase in contributed equity of
$5,245,969 (from $32,791,790 to
$38,037,759) as a result of:
Share issue of 961,112 fully paid ordinary
shares @ 12 cents each to directors
in lieu of cash

115,332

Share issue of 147,143 fully paid ordinary
shares @ 11.5 cents each to employees
under the ESP

17,000

Share issue of 40,909,091 fully paid
ordinary shares @ 12.5 cents in consideration
for the purchase of Iliad

5,113,637

Net increase in share capital

5,245,969

Matters Subsequent to the End of the Financial Year
As per the Company’s ASX announcement on 21 September
2006, a placement of 36 million shares to institutional and
sophisticated investors including top twenty shareholders has
raised $5 million which will allow Bionomics to continue to deliver
on its milestones for BNC105 and to progress its epilepsy,
anxiety and multiple sclerosis programs towards drug candidate
selection.
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Likely Developments and Expected Results of Operations
The Group will continue to undertake drug discovery and will seek
to commercialise the outcomes of its research and development
in the form of diagnostic products and drugs for the treatment
of disease.
Further information on likely developments in the operations of
the Group and the expected results of operations have not been
included in this report because further disclosure would not be in
the Group’s best interests.
Environmental Regulation
The Group is subject to environmental regulations and other
licenses in respect of its research facilities in Thebarton (South
Australia), Bundoora (Victoria) and for Neurofit in France. The
Group is subject to regular inspections and audits by responsible
State and Federal authorities. The Group was in compliance with
all the necessary environmental regulations throughout 20052006 and no related issues have arisen since the end of the
financial year to the date of this report.
INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS
Dr Peter Jonson BComm (Hons), MA (Hons), PhD,
FAID, FASSA Chairman – Non-Executive. Age 60
Director since 11 November 2004
Experience and Expertise
Director of four listed public companies (listed below) and also
active in facilitating the turning of science and technology into
businesses. Former central banker (1972 – 1988), then Director
and Chief Executive Officer of two major private sector financial
institutions (1989 – 1999). Since 1999 professional director
and economist.
Current Directorships (in addition to Bionomics
Limited)
Listed Companies: Director of Village Roadshow Ltd (since
2001), Pro Medicus Ltd (since 2000), and Metal Storm Ltd
(since 2006).
Other Relevant Directorships: Member of the Board of
Sequoia Capital Management Pty Ltd (since 2000) and Chairman
of the Australian Institute for Commercialisation Ltd (since
2002), Australian Aerospace and Defence Innovations Ltd (since
2006) and the Federal Government’s CRC Committee
(since 2006).
Former Listed Company Directorships in Last Three
Years
None.
Special Responsibilities
Chairman of the Board.
Member of Audit and Compliance Committee.
Member of Compensation Committee.
Interests in Shares and Options
357,778 shares in Bionomics Limited.
1,000,000 unlisted options over ordinary shares in
Bionomics Limited.

Dr Deborah Rathjen BSc (Hons), PhD
Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director. Age 48
Director since 19 June 2000
Experience and Expertise
Dr Rathjen is a seasoned biotech executive with 20 years
experience within the industry. Her expertise includes the
leadership of R&D teams, corporate and business development,
intellectual property management and financing. In 2004 Dr
Rathjen was awarded the AusBiotech President’s Medal in
recognition of her contribution to Australia’s biotechnology
industry. Dr Rathjen is a member of the Prime Minister’s
Science, Engineering and Innovation Council and a member of the
Industry Research and Development Board, chairing its Biological
Committee. Dr Rathjen has also been a past member and
deputy chair of the Federal Government’s Australian
Biotechnology Council.
Current Directorship (in addition to Bionomics
Limited)
None.
Former Directorships in Last Three Years
None.
Special Responsibilities
Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director.
Interests in Shares and Options
494,759 ordinary shares in Bionomics Limited.
114,022 listed options over ordinary shares in Bionomics
Limited.
3,395,000 unlisted options over ordinary shares in
Bionomics Limited.
Dr George Jessup MB, BS, MBiomedEng, MBA
Non-Executive Director. Age 48
Director since 1 July 2005
Experience and Expertise
Non-Executive Director appointed 1 July 2005. Co-founder and
Managing Director of Start-up Australia Ventures Pty Limited,
a specialist venture capital investor in the biotechnology sector
(since 1997). Previously Global Medical Director of a division of a
large US-based pharmaceutical company, and prior to that held a
number of clinical positions in Australian teaching hospitals.
Current Directorships (in addition to Bionomics
Limited)
Director of EvoGenix Limited (since 2001) and Start-up Australia
Ventures Pty Limited (since 2001). Director of a number of other
privately held companies.
Former Directorships in Last Three Years
Iliad Chemicals Pty Limited.
Special Responsibilities
Chairman of Compensation Committee
Member of Audit and Compliance Committee
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Interests in Shares and Options
1,976,040 ordinary shares in Bionomics Limited (held by entities
that Dr Jessup controls).
494,000 listed options over ordinary shares in Bionomics Limited
(held by an entity Dr Jessup controls).
42,701,966 ordinary shares in Bionomics Limited (held by Startup Australia Ventures Pty Limited of which Dr Jessup has an
interest).
9,382,716 listed options over ordinary shares in Bionomics
Limited (held by Start-up Australia Ventures Pty Limited of which
Dr Jessup has an interest).
Mr Trevor Tappenden ACA, FAICD Non-Executive
Director. Age 59
Director since 15 September 2006
Experience and Expertise
Non-Executive Director appointed 15 September 2006. He was a
Partner in the firm of Ernst & Young, Australia, from 1982 until
2003, specialising in Entrepreneurial Growth Companies as well
as being the Melbourne Managing Partner from 1997 to 2001,
and a member of the firm’s Board of Partners. Mr Tappenden
is actively involved as an Independent Company Director for a
number of corporate, government and education bodies. He
holds the position of Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management
committee for many of those organisations.
Current Directorships (in addition to Bionomics
Limited)
Chairman, Heide Museum of Modern Art, Director, Buckfast Pty
Ltd [Investment Coy], Director, CEDA, Director, Dairy Food Safety
Victoria, Director, John Heine Memorial Foundation [Charitable
Foundation],Director, VITS Language Link, Councillor, RMIT
University,
Former Directorships in Last Three Years
Nil
Special Responsibilities
Chairman of Audit and Compliance Committee

Full meetings of
of directors

Dr Peter Jonson
Dr Deborah Rathjen*
Dr George Jessup
Dr Christopher Henney
Mr Peter Maddern
Dr George Morstyn
A=

B=
*=
** =

A
19
19
19
19
19
18

B
17
19
19
14
19
17

Meetings of committees
Audit and Compensation
Compliance
A
B
A B
4
3
2 2
** **
** **
** **
2 2
** **
2 2
4
4
** **
4
4
** **

Number of meetings held during the time the director
held office or was a member of the committee during
the year and was entitled to attend.
Number of meetings attended.
Not a non-executive director.
Not a member of the relevant committee, may attend
by invitation.

Retirement, Election and Continuation in
Office of Directors
Dr George Jessup retires as a non-executive director at the
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offers himself for
re-election. Mr Trevor Tappenden retires as a non-executive
director at the annual general meeting and, being eligible, offers
himself for re-election.
REMUNERATION REPORT
The remuneration report is set out under the following main
headings:
1. Principles used to determine the nature and amount of
remuneration
2. Details of remuneration
3. Service agreements
4. Share based compensation
5. Additional information

Mr Tappenden was appointed on 15 September 2006 and as
such has received no remuneration and attended no Board
meetings in the capacity of director.

The information provided below includes remuneration
disclosures that are required under Accounting Standard AASB
124 Related Party Disclosures. These disclosures have been
transferred from the financial report and have been audited. The
additional information are additional disclosures required by the
Corporations Act 2001 and the Corporations Regulations 2001
which have not been audited.

Company Secretary
The company secretary is Mr Stephen Birrell. Mr Birrell was
appointed to the position of Company Secretary and Chief
Financial Officer in October 2005. Mr Birrell brings a deep
expertise in corporate finance, corporate governance, mergers
and acquisitions and general management in fast growth
companies. Mr Birrell is a member of CPA Australia and
Chartered Secretaries Australia.

1. Principles Used to Determine the Nature and
Amount of Remuneration (audited)
The objective of the Group’s key management personnel
remuneration framework is to ensure that reward for
performance is competitive and appropriate for the results
delivered. The framework aligns key management personnel
rewards with achievement of strategic objectives and the
creation of value for shareholders.

Interests in Shares and Options
Nil

Meetings of Directors
The numbers of meetings of the Company’s Board and of each
Board committee held during the year ended 30 June 2006, and
the numbers of meetings attended by each director were:
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Key management personnel remuneration and other terms
of employment are determined by the Board having regard
to performance, relevant comparative information and the
Group’s financial performance.

Directors’ Report
Remuneration packages are set at levels that are intended
to attract and retain first class key management personnel
capable of managing the Group’s operations and achieving the
Group’s strategic objectives.
The framework provides a mix of base cash remuneration
and performance-based remuneration through the Bionomics
Limited Employee Share Option Plan (the Bionomics ESOP)
in order to align the interests of key management personnel
with those of shareholders.
Non-Executive Directors
Fees and payments to non-executive directors reflect the
demands that are made on and the responsibilities of
the directors.
Non-executive directors may receive share options at the
time of their initial appointment to the Board or at other
such times as approved by shareholders. To preserve the
cash resources of the Group, all non-executive directors
have opted to receive approximately one third of their
remuneration in Bionomics shares, which are issued following
shareholder approval at an AGM.
Directors’ Fees
Non-executive directors’ fees are determined within an
aggregate directors’ fee pool limit that is periodically
recommended for approval by shareholders under the
Constitution. The current aggregate non-executive directors’
fee pool limit is $400,000 per annum. The Chairman and
non-executive directors’ fees are $82,000 per annum and
$41,000 per annum respectively, inclusive of superannuation.
The Chairman of the Audit and Compliance Committee
(until his resignation on 30 June 2006), Mr Peter Maddern,
received an additional $10,000 per annum inclusive of
superannuation for services relating to his Audit and
Compliance Committee duties.
Any value that may be attributed to options issued to
non-executive directors is not included in the shareholder
approved aggregate limit of directors’ fees applying from time
to time.
Retirement Allowance for Directors
The Group does not provide retirement allowances for its nonexecutive directors.
Key Management Personnel Remuneration
The key management personnel pay and reward framework
has three components:
•
•
•

a cash remuneration package, including superannuation
and other entitlements.
longer-term incentives through participation in the
Bionomics ESOP.
in exceptional circumstances, a cash bonus may be paid.

The combination of these comprises the key management
personnel’s total remuneration.

Base Remuneration
The cash remuneration package of key management personnel
is structured as a total employment cost package that may
be delivered as a mix of cash and prescribed salary sacrifice
benefits at the key management personnel’s discretion,
inclusive of superannuation.
Remuneration levels are reviewed annually and an
assessment made against market comparable roles balanced
with individual key management personnel’s performance
and the Group’s financial position. The key management
personnel’s remuneration may also be reviewed on promotion.
The Compensation Committee reviews the salary of the Chief
Executive Officer and Managing Director and key management
personnel directly reporting to the Chief Executive Officer
and Managing Director and makes recommendations to the
Board. The Board approves the salary of the Chief Executive
Officer and Managing Director and all key management
personnel directly reporting to the Chief Executive Officer and
Managing Director.
There are no guaranteed base pay increases for key
management personnel.
Retirement Benefits
Retirement benefits through superannuation are paid for
all Group employees in line with relevant superannuation
legislative requirements into funds nominated by the
individual employee. The Group does not have any on-going
responsibility for the individual employee superannuation and
does not have in place a defined benefits plan for employees.
The Bionomics ESOP
Information on the Bionomics ESOP is set out in note 1(r) to
the financial statements.
2. Details of Remuneration (audited)
Details of the remuneration of each director of Bionomics
Limited and each of the key management personnel (as
defined in AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures) are set out
in the following tables.
Non-Executive Chairman
Dr Peter Jonson
Executive Directors
Dr Deborah Rathjen, Chief Executive Officer and
Managing Director
Non-Executive Directors
Dr George Jessup
Dr Christopher Henney (resigned 30 June 2006)
Mr Peter Maddern (resigned 30 June 2006)
Dr George Morstyn (resigned 16 June 2006)
In the prior year, Mr Fraser Ainsworth was a non-executive
director up until his resignation (11 November 2004).
The following persons were the top five highest paid key
management personnel and those with greatest authority for the
strategic direction and management of both the Company and the
BIONOMICS ANNUAL REPORT 2006
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Group (key management personnel) during the financial year and the prior year unless otherwise stated:
Name
Position
Mr Stephen Birrell
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary
(Company Secretary from 6 October 2005 and Chief Financial Officer from 17 October 2005)
Dr Bernard Flynn
Vice President Chemistry (from 1July 2005)
Dr Gabriel Kremmidiotis
Vice President Cancer Research
Dr Frank Sams-Dodd
Vice President Pre Clinical Research (Bionomics Limited) and General Manager (Neurofit SAS)
(from 1 January 2006)
Dr Alex Szabo
Vice President Business Development
Key management personnel who left during the year were Mr Francis Placanica (16 September 2005) and Ms Jill Mashado (6 October
2005). Both were key management personnel in the prior financial year together with Mr Lee Craker up until his resignation (28
January 2005). Details of options granted to and exercised by directors during the year ended 30 June 2006 are set out further in
this note.
Directors and Key Management Personnel - 2006
Short term benefits
Name

Cash
salary and
fees
$

Dr Peter Jonson
Dr Deborah Rathjen
Dr George Jessup
Dr Christopher Henney

Nonmonetary
benefits
$

Post
employment
Superannuation
$

Share based payments
Shares

Options

Total

$

$

$

56,422
317,861
27,333
27,333

0
0
0
0

5,078
12,139
0
0

27,333
30,000
13,667
13,667

77,208
0
17,170

88,833
437,208
41,000
58,170

31,193

0

2,807

17,000

17,312

68,312

25,076

0

2,257

13,667

17,170

58,170

97,740

0

8,623

0

14,706

121,069

135,015
100,674
134,190

0
0
0

12,151
8,884
0

0
1,000
0

11,629
6,485
2,553

158,795
117,043
136,743

195,363
83,872

0
10,191

12,139
1,568

0

10,500
0

218,002
95,631

131,331

0

3,502

0

0

134,833

(resigned 30 June 2006)

Mr Peter Maddern
(resigned 30 June 2006)

Dr George Morstyn
(resigned 16 June 2006)

Mr Stephen Birrell
(from 17 October 2005 to 30 June 2006)

Dr Bernard Flynn
Dr Gabriel Kremmidiotis
Dr Frank Sams-Dodd
(from 01 January 2006 to 30 June 2006)

Dr Alex Szabo
Mr Francis Placanica
(resigned 16 September 2005)

Ms Jill Mashado
(resigned 6 October 2005)

Directors and Key Management Personnel - 2005
Short term benefits
Name

Post
employment
Superannuation

Share based payments

Cash
salary and
fees
$

Nonmonetary
benefits
$

48,124

0

4,331

0

122,540

174,995

14,511

0

1,306

7,954

22,900

46,671

Dr Deborah Rathjen
Dr Christopher Henney
Mr Peter Maddern
Dr George Morstyn

329,073
27,333
31,193
25,076

19,342
0
0
0

11,585
0
2,807
2,257

0
13,667
17,000
13,667

58,351
64,080
64,080
64,080

418,351
105,080
115,080
105,080

Dr Gabriel Kremmidiotis
Ms Jill Mashado
Mr Francis Placanica
Dr Alex Szabo (from 1 February 2005

82,661
129,662
100,309
78,507

0
0
28,589
0

9,840
9,993
9,153
4,827

0
0
0
0

15,268
17,906
19,532
212

107,769
157,561
157,583
83,546

98,962

19,408

6,758

0

3,309

128,437

Dr Peter Jonson

(from 11 November

$

Shares

Options

Total

$

$

$

2004 to 30 June 2005)

Mr Fraser Ainsworth
(from 1 July 2004 to 11 November 2004)

to 30 June 2005)

Mr Lee Craker

(from 1 July 2004

to 28 January 2005)
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Approximately one third of non-executive director’s fees are
paid via the issuance of shares to these directors as a direct
measure to conserve cash for the Group. Issuance of these
shares is subject to the approval by shareholders at an AGM.
In 2006, Dr Rathjen elected to sacrifice $30,000 of salary
into shares in order to conserve the Group’s cash reserves.
Options are granted to directors and other key management
personnel under the Bionomics ESOP, details of which are set
out in note 1(r) of the financial statements.
3. Service Agreements (audited)
Remuneration and other terms of employment for the Chief
Executive Officer and Managing Director and the key management personnel are formalised in service agreements. Major
provisions of the agreements relating to remuneration are set
out below:
Dr Deborah Rathjen, Chief Executive Officer and
Managing Director

•
•

•

term of agreement – three years commencing 19 June
2005.
total remuneration package for the year ended 30 June
2006 of $360,000 per annum, to be reviewed annually
by the Compensation Committee and approved by the
Board.
payment of termination benefit on early termination by the
employer without cause varies depending on time remaining in the agreement. Maximum payable is equal to one
year’s salary and minimum payable is equal to six months’
salary.

Dr Gabriel Kremmidiotis, Vice President
Cancer Research

•
•

•

term of agreement – open commencing 1 January 2002.
total remuneration package for the period 1 July 2005 to
31 December 2005 of $95,000 per annum and for the
period 1 January 2006 to 30 June 2006 of $125,000
per annum, to be reviewed annually by the Compensation
Committee and approved by the Board.
payment of termination benefit on early termination by the
employer without cause equal to one month’s salary.

Dr Frank Sams-Dodd, Vice President Pre Clinical Research
and General Manager Neurofit SAS

•
•

•

term of agreement – open commencing 1 January 2006.
total remuneration package for the period 1 January
2006 to 30 June 2006 of $268,380 per annum to be
reviewed annually by the Compensation Committee and
approved by the Board.
payment of termination benefit on early termination by the
employer without cause equal to one month’s salary.

Dr Alex Szabo, Vice President Business Development
• term of agreement – open commencing 1 February 2005.
• total remuneration package for the period 1 July 2005 to
31 December 2005 of $200,000 per annum and for the
period 1 January 2006 to 30 June 2006 of $215,000
per annum, to be reviewed annually by the Compensation
Committee and approved by the Board.
• payment of termination benefit on early termination by the
employer without cause equal to three month’s salary.

Mr Stephen Birrell, Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary

•
•

•

term of agreement – open commencing 17 October
2005.
total remuneration package for the period 17 October
2005 to 30 June 2006 of $150,000 per annum to be
reviewed annually by the Compensation Committee and
approved by the Board.
payment of termination benefit on early termination by the
employer without cause equal to three month’s salary.

Dr Bernard Flynn, Vice President Chemistry
• term of agreement – open commencing 1 July 2005.
• total remuneration package for the period 1 July 2005
to 31 October 2005 of $67,500 per annum and for the
period 1 November 2005 to 30 June 2006 of $187,000
per annum, to be reviewed annually by the Compensation
Committee and approved by the Board.
• payment of termination benefit on early termination by the
employer without cause equal to three month’s salary.
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4. Share-based Compensation (audited)
Options are granted under the Bionomics ESOP, details of
which are set out in note 1(r) of the financial statements.
Options are granted for no consideration.
The terms and conditions of each grant of options affecting
remuneration in this or future reporting periods are as
follows:
Grant date
Granted in prior periods
19 June 2000
2 June 2002
2 June 2002
2 June 2002
3 June 2002
3 June 2002
3 June 2002
14 June 2002
14 June 2002
14 June 2002
10 June 2002
10 June 2002
10 June 2002
11 August 2004
1 September 2004
1 September 2004
1 September 2004
1 September 2004
1 September 2004
1 September 2004
1 September 2004
1 September 2004
1 September 2004
20 December 2004
21 January 2005
21 January 2005
21 January 2005
21 January 2005
21 January 2005
15 June 2005
Granted in current period
1 August 2005
1 August 2005
1 August 2005
1 August 2005
1 August 2005
12 September 2005
18 October 2005
18 October 2005
18 October 2005
13 January 2006
13 January 2006
13 January 2006
13 January 2006
13 January 2006
13 January 2006
13 April 2006
13 April 2006
13 April 2006
13 April 2006
13 April 2006

Expiry date

Exercise price

Value per option at
grant date

Date exercisable

19 June 2010
2 June 2010
2 June 2011
2 June 2012
3 June 2010
3 June 2011
3 June 2012
14 June 2010
14 June 2011
14 June 2012
10 June 2010
10 June 2011
10 June 2012
14 November 2009
14 November 2009
5 September 2010
5 September 2011
5 September 2012
5 September 2013
29 September 2010
29 September 2011
29 September 2012
29 September 2013
17 January 2010
17 February 2011
17 February 2012
17 February 2013
17 February 2014
17 February 2015
31 January 2009

$1.40
$0.81
$0.81
$0.81
$0.81
$0.81
$0.81
$0.81
$0.81
$0.81
$0.81
$0.81
$0.81
$0.21
$0.24
$0.24
$0.24
$0.24
$0.24
$0.24
$0.24
$0.24
$0.24
$0.27
$0.30
$0.30
$0.30
$0.30
$0.30
$0.22

$0.3098
$0.4488
$0.4671
$0.4834
$0.4365
$0.4546
$0.4707
$0.3753
$0.3924
$0.4078
$0.4057
$0.4235
$0.4390
$0.1070
$0.1145
$0.1224
$0.1292
$0.1349
$0.1398
$0.1224
$0.1292
$0.1349
$0.1398
$0.1103
$0.1098
$0.1171
$0.1234
$0.1289
$0.1335
$0.0424

19 June 2005
2 June 2005
2 June 2006
2 June 2007
3 June 2005
3 June 2006
3 June 2007
14 June 2005
14 June 2006
14 June 2007
10 June 2005
10 June 2006
10 June 2007
15 November 2004
15 November 2004
6 September 2005
6 September 2006
6 September 2007
6 September 2008
30 September 2005
30 September 2006
30 September 2007
30 September 2008
18 January 2005
18 February 2006
18 February 2007
18 February 2008
18 February 2009
18 February 2010
28 June 2005

1 August 2011
1 August 2012
1 August 2013
1 August 2014
1 August 2015
12 October 2010
19 June 2011
19 June 2012
19 June 2013
13 January 2011
13 January 2012
13 January 2013
13 January 2014
13 January 2015
13 January 2016
13 April 2012
13 April 2013
13 April 2014
13 April 2015
13 April 2016

$0.13
$0.13
$0.13
$0.13
$0.13
$0.11
$0.13
$0.13
$0.13
$0.24
$0.24
$0.24
$0.24
$0.24
$0.24
$0.20
$0.20
$0.20
$0.20
$0.20

$0.0567
$0.0601
$0.0630
$0.0656
$0.0677
$0.0800
$0.1628
$0.1668
$0.1704
$0.1236
$0.1310
$0.1371
$0.1420
$0.1461
$0.1495
$0.1222
$0.1275
$0.1317
$0.1352
$0.1381

1 August 2006
1 August 2007
1 August 2008
1 August 2009
1 August 2010
12 October 2010
19 June 2006
19 June 2007
19 June 2008
13 January 2006
13 January 2007
13 January 2008
13 January 2009
13 January 2010
13 January 2011
13 April 2007
13 April 2008
13 April 2009
13 April 2010
13 April 2011

Options granted under the plan carry no dividend or voting rights.
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Options Provided as Remuneration
Details of options over ordinary shares in the Company provided
as remuneration to each director and each of the key management personnel are set out below. When exercisable, each option
is convertible into one ordinary share of Bionomics. Further
information on the options is set out in note 24(d) of the financial
report.

Name

Directors
Dr Peter Jonson
Dr Deborah Rathjen
Dr George Jessup
Dr Christopher Henney
Mr Peter Maddern
Dr George Morstyn
Mr Fraser Ainsworth
Key Management Personnel
Mr Stephen Birrell
Dr Bernard Flynn
Dr Gabriel Kremmidiotis
Dr Frank Sams-Dodd
Dr Alex Szabo
Ms Jill Mashado
Mr Francis Placanica

Number of
options granted
during the year

Number of
options granted
during the year

Number of
options vested
during the year

Number of
options vested
during the year

2006

2005

2006

2005

0
1,120,000
0
0
0
0
0

1,000,000
75,000
0
500,000
500,000
500,000
200,000

0
880,000
0
100,000
100,000
100,000
0

1,000,000
515,000
0
500,000
500,000
500,000
200,000

500,000
250,000
50,000
0
250,000
0
0

0
0
25,000
0
5,000
55,000
25,000

0
0
90,000
0
0
34,667
50,000

0
0
65,000
0
5,000
89,667
75,000

5. Additional Information (unaudited)
Principles used to determine the nature and
amount of remuneration; relationship between
remuneration and company performance
Key management personnel reward is set against the
achievement of specified milestones and targets approved
by the Board. Over the last year, average key management
personnel remuneration rose by 6% with overall achievement
of milestones and targets was 96%. Average achievement
against goals and targets over the last four years is 93%.

Shares Issued on the Exercise of Options
No ordinary shares of Bionomics were issued during the year
ended 30 June 2006 on the exercise of options granted
under the Bionomics ESOP.
Insurance of Officers
During the financial year, Bionomics paid a premium to insure the
directors and officers (D&O) of the Company. Under the terms of
this policy the premium paid by the Company is not permitted to
be disclosed.

Other Transactions with Directors and Key Management Personnel
There were no other transactions with Directors or key management personnel during the financial year.

The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in
defending civil or criminal proceedings that may be brought
against the D&O in their capacity as D&O of the Company, and
any other payments arising from liabilities incurred by the D&O
in connection with such proceedings, other than where such
liabilities arise out of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty by
the D&O or the improper use by the D&O of their position or of
information to gain advantage for themselves or someone else or
to cause detriment to the Company.

Shares under Option
Information relating to shares under option is set out in note
19(c) to the financial statements.

It is not possible to apportion the premium between amounts
relating to the insurance against legal costs and those relating to
other liabilities.

The average decrease in share price over the previous four
years was 18.06%. Share price performance during the
2006 financial year showed a 54.6% increase over the previous year closing price.
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Non-Audit Services
The Company may decide to employ the external auditor on
assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where the
external auditor’s expertise and experience with the Group are
important.
Details of the amounts paid to the external auditor
(PricewaterhouseCoopers) for audit and non-audit services
provided during the year are set out in note 25 to the financial
statements.

•

•

all non-audit services have been reviewed by the Audit and
Compliance Committee to ensure they do not impact the
impartiality and objectivity of the external auditor.
none of the services undermine the general principles
relating to auditor independence as set out in The Institute
of Chartered Accountants in Australia and CPA Australia
Professional Statement F1, including reviewing or auditing
the external auditor’s own work, acting in a management or a
decision-making capacity for the Company, acting as advocate
for the Company or jointly sharing economic risk and rewards.

The Board has considered the position and, in accordance with
the advice received from the Audit and Compliance Committee, is
satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible
with the general standard of independence for external auditors
imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The Directors are
satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by the external
auditor, as set out in note 25 to the financial statements, did not
compromise the external auditor independence requirements of
the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

External Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers continues in office in accordance with
section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.

Peter Jonson
Chairman
Adelaide
21 September 2006

Deborah Rathjen
Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director
Adelaide
21 September 2006
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A copy of the auditors’ independence declaration as required
under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on
page 33.
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the
directors.

Auditors’ Independence Report
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT

This financial report covers both Bionomics as an individual entity
and the Group consisting of Bionomics and its subsidiaries. A
description of the nature of the Group’s operations and its principal activities is included throughout the Annual Report and the
Directors’ Report. The financial report is presented in Australian
dollars.
Bionomics is a company limited by shares, incorporated and
domiciled in Australia. It is listed on the ASX (ASX code: BNO)
and its registered office is 31 Dalgleish Street, Thebarton,
SA 5031.
Through the internet, we have ensured that our corporate reporting is timely, complete and available globally at minimum cost to
the company. All press releases, financial statements and other
information are available of our website www.bionomics.com.au
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Income Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2006

Note

Consolidated
2006
2005
$
$

Parent entity
2006
2005
$
$

Revenue

4

2,263,204

1,356,319

1,501,005

1,141,771

Other Income

4

2,309,331

1,817,043

2,200,126

1,817,043

1,881,031
328,858
620,031
487,820
6,808,183
(5,553,388)

1,885,636
317,639
312,082
242,612
5,314,543
(4,899,150)

1,774,802
328,858
441,208
430,473
4,770,388
(4,044,598)

2,019,632
317,639
490,742
242,612
4,700,738
(4,812,549)

156,438

0

0

0

(5,396,950)

(4,899,150)

(4,044,598)

(4,812,549)

Expenses
Administrative
Financing costs
Occupancy
Compliance
Research and development
Loss before related income tax expense

Income tax benefit

5

6

Loss after related income tax expense

Basic and diluted earnings per share

30

Consolidated
Cents
Cents
(3.4)
(7.6)

The above income statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Balance Sheets
for the year ended 30 June 2006

Note

Consolidated
2006
2005
$
$

Parent entity
2006
2005
$
$

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Other assets
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

7
8
9
10

4,728,227
242,353
44,841
142,681
5,158,102

9,005,079
141,108
31,069
261,229
9,438,485

4,709,059
2,926,779
0
116,615
7,752,453

8,529,889
2,727,811
0
212,935
11,470,635

11
12
13

0
5,645,561
8,911,096

0
5,654,426
2,553,430

5,561,280
5,241,625
0

66,736
5,541,264
0

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS

14,556,657

8,207,856

10,802,905

5,608,000

TOTAL ASSETS

19,714,759

17,646,341

18,555,358

17,078,635

1,592,853
413,830
456,896
217,776

1,265,851
358,175
255,389
155,820

1,188,699
413,830
251,921
191,779

1,003,179
358,175
206,965
153,336

2,681,355

2,035,235

2,046,229

1,721,655

45,455
3,966,866
57,311
2,017,494

0
4,287,800
47,520
596,748

29,297
3,966,866
57,311
0

0
4,287,800
47,520
0

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

6,087,126

4,932,068

4,053,474

4,335,320

TOTAL LIABILITIES

8,768,481

6,967,303

6,099,703

6,056,975

10,946,278

10,679,038

12,455,655

11,021,660

38,037,759
434,106
(27,525,587)

32,791,790
15,886
(22,128,638)

38,037,759
504,531
(26,086,635)

32,791,790
271,907
(22,042,037)

10,946,278

10,679,038

12,455,655

11,021,660

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Other financial assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Other liabilities

14
15
16
17

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Deferred tax liability

14
15
16
18

NET ASSETS

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Contributed equity
Reserves
Accumulated losses
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

19
20
21

The above balance sheets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Cash Flow Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2006

Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Grants received (inc GST)
Receipts from customers (inc GST)
Payments to suppliers and employees (inc GST)

Consolidated
2006
2005
$
$

Parent entity
2006
2005
$
$

2,306,902
2,307,898
(8,340,904)
(3,726,104)
308,537
(332,243)

1,818,31
1,142,710
(6,340,254)
(3,379,225)
367,234
(321,024)

1,986,605
1,166,563
(5,991,054)
(2,837,886)
302,540
(328,858)

1,818,319
834,418
(8,855,827)
(6,203,090)
367,234
(321,024)

(3,749,810)

(3,333,015)

(2,864,204)

(6,156,880)

Cash flows from investing activities
Payment for purchase of subsidiary
Payments for the purchase of intangibles
Proceeds from acquisition of subsidiary
Payments for purchases of property, plant
& equipment

0
0
15,895
(179,456)

(87,520)
(2,107,379)
0
(426,274)

0
0
(380,907)
(217,182)

(120,817)
0
0
(296,112)

Net cash (outflow) from investing activities

(163,561)

(2,621,173)

(598,089)

(416,929)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of borrowings
Proceeds from share issues
Share issue expenses

(358,627)
0
0

(83,912)
6,776,577
(292,382)

(358,537)
0
0

(83,912)
6,776,577
(292,382)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities

(358,627)

6,400,283

(358,537)

6,400,283

(4,271,998)
9,005,079

446,095
8,703,415

(3,820,830)
8,529,889

(173,526)
8,703,415

4,936

(144,431)

0

0

4,728,227

9,005,079

4,709,059

8,529,889

Interest received
Financing costs
Net cash (outflow) from operating activities

28

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash at the beginning of the financial year
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balances
of cash held in foreign currency
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
financial year
Non-cash financing activities

7

29

The above cash flow statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statements of Changes in Equity
as at 30 June 2006
Consolidated
2006
2005
$
$
Total equity at the beginning of the financial year
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations

20

Net income recognised directly in equity
Loss for the year
Total recognised income and expense for the year
Transactions with equity holders in their capacity
as equity holders:
• Contributions of equity, net of transaction
costs
19
• Employee share options
20
Total equity at the end of the financial year
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2005
$

10,679,038

8,930,891

11,021,660

8,930,891

185,597

(256,021)

0

0

185,597
(5,396,950)
(5,211,353)

(256,021)
(4,899,150)
(5,155,171)

0
(4,044,598)
(4,044,598)

0
(4,812,549)
(4,812,549)

5,245,969
232,624

6,636,482
266,836

5,245,969
232,624

6,636,482
266,836

10,946,278

10,679,038

12,455,655

11,021,660

The above statements of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

38

Parent
2006
$
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2006
NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation
of the financial report are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless
otherwise stated. The financial report includes separate financial
statements for Bionomics as an individual entity and the Group
consisting of Bionomics and its subsidiaries.
(a)

its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the financial statements, are
disclosed in note 3.
(b)

Basis of Preparation
This general purpose financial report has been prepared
in accordance with Australian equivalents to International
Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRSs), other authoritative
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards
Board (AASB), Urgent Issues Group Interpretations (UIGI)
and the Corporations Act 2001

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of Bionomics and its subsidiaries as at
30 June 2006.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the parent entity, using
consistent accounting policies where possible. Adjustments
are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist.

Compliance with IFRSs
Australian Accounting Standards include AIFRSs.
Compliance with AIFRSs ensures that the consolidated
financial statements and notes of Bionomics comply with
the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).
The parent entity financial statements and notes also
comply with IFRSs except that it has elected to apply the
relief provided to parent entities in respect of certain
disclosure requirements contained in AASB 132 Financial

All intercompany balances and transactions, including
unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions,
have been eliminated in full. Unrealised losses are
eliminated unless costs cannot be recovered.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is obtained and cease to be consolidated from the
date on which control ceases.

Instruments: Presentation and Disclosure

Application of AASB 1 First-time Adoption
of AIFRSs
Financial statements of Bionomics until 30 June 2005
had been prepared in accordance with previous Australian
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (AGAAP). AGAAP
differs in certain respects from AIFRS. When preparing
the Bionomics financial report for the year ended 30 June
2006, management has amended certain accounting,
valuation and consolidation methods applied in the previous
AGAAP financial statements to comply with AIFRS.
The comparative figures were restated to reflect those
adjustments.

Where there is loss of control of a subsidiary, the
consolidated financial statements include the results for
the part of the reporting period during which the Company
has control.
Subsidiaries have been included in the consolidated financial
statements using the purchase method of accounting as
discussed in note 1 (h).
(c)

Segment Reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and operations
engaged in providing products and services that are
subject to risks and returns that are different to those
of other business segments. A geographical segment
is engaged in providing products and services within a
particular economic environment and is subject to risks
and returns that are different from those of segments
operating in other economic environments.

(d)

Foreign Currency Translation

The income statement was also reclassified by function in
the current period, which required a reclassification of the
comparative figures. This reclassification has no effect on
the overall net loss for the entity.
Reconciliations and descriptions of the effect of transition
from previous AGAAP to AIFRSs on the Bionomics equity
and its net income are given in note 33.

(i)

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the functional currency).
The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Australian dollars which is Bionomics functional and
presentation currency.

Historical Cost Convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
certain classes of financial assets and liabilities at
fair value.
Critical Accounting Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with AIFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
40
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Functional and Presentation Currency

(ii)

Transactions and Balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2006
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for
temporary differences at the tax rates expected to
apply when the assets are recovered or liabilities are
settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or
substantively enacted for each jurisdiction. The relevant tax
rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible
and taxable temporary differences to measure the deferred
tax asset or liability. An exception is made for certain
temporary differences arising from the initial recognition
of an asset or a liability. No deferred tax asset or liability
is recognised in relation to these temporary differences
if they arose in a transaction, other than a business
combination, that at the time of the transaction did not
affect either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation at period-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the income statement.
(iii)

Group Companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency (Australian dollars) are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:
•

•

•

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;
income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at the average exchange rate for
the period; and
all resulting exchange differences are recognised
as a separate component of equity upon
consolidation.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible
temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to
utilise those temporary differences and losses.
Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts
recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly
in equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate.
(e)

Revenue Recognition
Interest revenue is recognised on an accruals basis using
the effective interest rate method.
License, sales and rent income is recognised in accordance
with the underlying agreement.
Upfront payments are brought to account as revenues
unless there is a correlation to ongoing research and both
components are viewed as one agreement, in which case
the license income is amortised over the anticipated period
of the associated research program. Unamortised
license revenue is recognised on the balance sheet as
deferred income.

(f)

(g)

Government Grants
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions. Grants relating to cost reimbursement are
recognised in the income statement in the period when the
costs were incurred. Grants relating to asset purchases
are recognised in the income statement evenly over the
expected life of the assets.
Income Tax
The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based
on the national income tax rate for each jurisdiction
adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the financial statements, and to unused tax losses.

Bionomics and its wholly-owned Australian controlled
entities have not implemented the tax consolidation
legislation.
(h)

Acquisitions of assets
The purchase method of accounting is used for all
acquisitions of assets (including business combinations)
regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets
are acquired. Cost is measured as the fair value of the
assets given up, shares issued or liabilities undertaken
at the date of acquisition plus incidental costs directly
attributable to the acquisition. Where equity instruments
are issued in an acquisition, the value of the instruments
is their market price as at the acquisition date, unless the
notional price at which they could be placed in the market
is a better indicator of fair value. Transaction costs arising
on the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly
in equity.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the
net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is
recognised directly in the income statement, but only after
a reassessment of the identification and measurement of
the net assets acquired.
Where some future payment that is contingent on certain
events happening is a part of the purchase agreement, the
additional consideration is brought to account when it is
probable that those events will occur.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2006
is held ready for use, on either a prime or diminishing value
basis depending on the type of asset.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is
deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted
to their present value as at the date of the acquisition. The
discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing
rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be
obtained from an independent financier under comparable
terms and conditions.
(i)

(j)

(k)

Impairment of Assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject
to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.
Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash
generating units).
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits
held at call with financial institutions, other short-term,
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities
on the balance sheet.
Trade Receivables
All trade debtors are recognised at the fair value of
amounts receivable as they are due for settlement no more
than 30 days from the date of recognition.
Collectibility of trade debtors is reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are
written off. A provision for doubtful debts is raised when
some doubt as to collection exists. The amount of the
provision is the difference between the carrying amount
and the present value of future cash flows, discounted at
the effective interest rate. The amount of the provision is
recognised in the income statement.

(l)

Inventories
Raw materials and stores are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value.

(m)

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are brought to account at
cost less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation
or any recognised impairment losses. The directors have
taken reasonable steps to ensure that property, plant and
equipment are not carried at amounts that are in excess of
their recoverable amounts at balance date.
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated
over their useful lives commencing from the time the asset

42

BIONOMICS ANNUAL REPORT 2006

The gain or loss on disposal of all fixed assets is
determined as the difference between the carrying amount
of the asset at the time of disposal and the proceeds of
disposal, and is included in the income statement in the
year of disposal.
The depreciation rates for each class of depreciable
assets are:
•
•
•
•
•
(n)

Administrative plant & equipment
Scientific plant & equipment
Leasehold improvements
Building
Building components

20 – 40 %
20 – 40 %
10 – 20 %
2.50 %
2 – 20 %

Investments and Other Financial Assets
From 1 July 2004 to 30 June 2005
The Group has taken the exemption available under AASB 1
to apply AASB 132 and AASB 139 only from 1 July 2005.
The Group has applied previous AGAAP to the comparative
information on financial instruments within the scope of
AASB 132 and AASB 139. For further information on
previous AGAAP refer to the annual report for the year
ended 30 June 2005.
Adjustments on transition date: 1 July 2005
The nature of the main adjustments to make this
information comply with AASB 132 and AASB 139 is that
amortised cost is the measurement basis.
From 1 July 2005
The Group classifies its investments in the following
categories: loans and receivables and held to maturity
investments. The classification depends on the purpose
for which the investments were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets at
initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at each
reporting date.
(i)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. They arise when the
Group provides money, goods or services directly to
a debtor with no intention of selling the receivable.
They are included in current assets, except for
those with maturities greater than 12 months after
the balance sheet date which are classified as non
current assets. Loans and receivables are included in
receivables in the balance sheet.
(ii)

Held to maturity investments

Held to maturity investments are non derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed maturities that the Group’s management
has the positive intention and ability to hold until
maturity.

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2006
(o)

Intangible Assets
(i)

(ii)

Acquired intellectual property is recognised as an
asset at cost and amortised over its useful life.
Intellectual property with a finite life is amortised on a
straight line basis over that life. Intellectual property
with an indefinite useful life is subjected to an annual
impairment review. There is currently no intellectual
property with an indefinite life.

(iii)

The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance date.
Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recorded at the amount by which
the purchase price for a business or for an ownership
interest in a controlled entity exceeds the fair value
attributed to its net identifiable assets, including any
associated deferred tax assets and liabilities, at date
of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries
is included in intangible assets.
Goodwill acquired in business combinations is not
amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested for impairment
annually and is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal
of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill
relating to the entity sold. Goodwill is allocated to
cash generating units for the purpose of impairment
testing.
(p)

(q)

(r)

Research and Development
Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the
prospect of obtaining new scientific or technical knowledge
and understanding, is recognised in the income statement
as an expense when it is incurred.
Trade and Other Payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year
which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are
usually paid within 30 days of recognition.
Employee Benefits
(i)

Wages and salaries, annual leave and
sick leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including nonmonetary benefits and annual leave in respect of
employees’ services up to the reporting date and
expected to be settled within 12 months of the
reporting date are recognised in liabilities and are
measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for nonaccumulating sick leave are recognised when the
leave is taken at the rates paid.

Superannuation

Contributions are made to employee superannuation
funds and are charged as expenses when incurred.
These contributions are made to external
superannuation funds and are not defined benefits
programs. Consequently there is no exposure to
market movements on employee superannuation
liabilities or entitlements.

Current useful life of all existing intellectual property is
15 years.

(ii)

Long service leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the
provision for employee benefits in respect of services
provided by employees up to the reporting date and
measured as the present value of expected future
payments to be made.

Intellectual Property

(iv)

Share-based payments

Share based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via the Bionomics ESOP and an employee
share plan.
The market value of shares issued to employees for
no cash consideration under the employee share
scheme is recognised as an employee benefits
expense with a corresponding increase in equity when
the employees become entitled to the shares.
The Bionomics ESOP was approved by the Board and
Shareholders in 2005. Staff eligible to participate in
the plan are those who have been a full time or part
time employee of the Company for a period of not less
than six months or a director of the Company.
Options are granted under the plan for no
consideration.
Shares options granted before 7 November
2002 and/or vested before 1 January 2005

No expense is recognised in respect of these options.
The shares are recognised when the options are
exercised and the proceeds received allocated to
share capital.
Shares options granted after 7 November 2002
and vested after 1 January 2005

The fair value of options granted under the Bionomics
ESOP is recognised as an employee benefit expense
with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair
value is measured at grant date and recognised
over the period during which the employees become
unconditionally entitled to the options.
The amounts disclosed as remuneration relating to
options are the assessed fair values at grant date of
those options allocated equally over the period from
grant date to vesting date. Fair values at grant date
are independently determined using a Black-Scholes
option pricing model that takes into account the
exercise price, the term of the option, the vesting
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and performance criteria, the impact of dilution, the
non-tradeable nature of the option, the share price at
grant date, expected price volatility of the underlying
share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-free
interest rate for the term of the option.

(v)

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction,
net of tax, from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options, or for
the acquisition of a business, are included in the cost of the
acquisition as part of the purchase consideration.

Upon the exercise of options, the balance of the
share-based payments reserve relating to those
options is transferred to share capital.
(s)

Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in the income statement over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

(w)

Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any
qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time
that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed.

(u)

Leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group
has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are
capitalised at the lease’s inception at the lower of the
fair value of the leased property and the present value of
the minimum lease payments. The corresponding rental
obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other
long term payables. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve
a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The
interest element of the finance cost is charged to the
income statement over the lease period so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the liability for each period. The property, plant and
equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated
over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the
lease term.
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straightline basis over the period of the lease.
Lease income from operating leases is recognised in
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Earnings per Share
(i)

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to equity holders of the company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted
for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during
the year.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the balance
sheet date.
(t)

Contributed Equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

(ii)

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used
in the determination of basic earnings per share
to take into account the after income tax effect of
interest and other financing costs associated with
potential ordinary shares and the weighted average
number of shares assumed to have been issued for
no consideration in relation to options.

(iii)

Alternative earnings per share

Alternative earnings per share adjusts the figures
used in the determination of basic earnings per share
to take into account the after income tax effect of
interest and other financing costs associated with
potential ordinary shares, including those that are
anti-dilutive, and the weighted average number
of shares assumed to have been issued for no
consideration in relation to options.
(x)

Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the
amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not
recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or
as part of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the
amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority
is included with other receivables or payables in the
balance sheet.
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST
component of cash flow arising from investing or financing
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the
taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flow.

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2006
(y)

New Accounting Standards and UIG Interpretations
Certain new accounting standards and UIG interpretations
have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June
2006 reporting periods. Management’s assessment of the
impact of these new standards and interpretations is set
out below.

NOTE 2: SEGMENT INFORMATION
(a) Primary reporting format – business segments
The Group discovers and develops innovative therapeutics
in the areas of cancer, multiple sclerosis, anxiety and
epilepsy, and operates in one primary business segment
– drug discovery and development.

(i)

(b)

AASB 7: Financial instruments – disclosures
and AASB 2005-10 Amendment to Australian
Accounting Standards

Secondary reporting format – geographical segments
The Group operates the drug discovery and development in
two geographical areas, namely Australia and France

AASB 7 and AASB 2005-10 are applicable to annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2007. The Group has not adopted the standards
early. Application of the standards will not affect any
of the amounts in the financial statements, but is
likely to impact the type of information disclosed in
relation to the Group’s financial instruments.
NOTE 2: Geographical Segments
Sales to external

Segment assets

Capital acquisitions of

customers

property, plant, equipment
and intangible assets

2006
Australia
France
Total

2005

2006

2005

1,141,771

16,594,385

14,491,932

5,540,444

295,450

756,202

214,548

3,120,375

3,154,409

262,117

2,112,222

2,263,204

1,356,319

19,714,760

17,646,341

5,802,561

2,407,672

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities are discussed below.
(i)

2006

1,507,002

NOTE 3: CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact
on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.
(a)

2005

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Management test annually whether goodwill has
suffered any impairment, in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in note 1 (o) (ii). The
recoverable amounts and hence any estimated
impairment are based on the Groups market
capitalisation after taking into consideration its net
tangible assets. These calculations require the use

of assumptions. Refer to note 13 for details of these
assumptions and the potential impact to changes of
these assumptions.
(ii)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Australia,
France and the United States of America. There are
transactions and calculations undertaken during the
ordinary course of business for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, the difference
will impact the current and deferred tax provisions in
which such determinations are made.
At 30 June 2006 management believe there are no
material judgement areas which would result in the
actual final outcome differing from the calculated
income tax and deferred liabilities.
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(b)

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s
accounting policies
During the year, a review of the expected life of the
intangible assets was performed which resulted in a
reduction in the expected life from 20 years to 15 years,
The resultant impact was an increased amortisation charge
to the income statement of $123,735 (before income tax).

NOTE 4: REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

Consolidated
2006
2005
$
$

2006
$

Parent entity
2005
$

Revenue
Sales

652,375

295,552

0

114,013

License fees and royalties

974,760

570,933

974,760

570,933

Interest received or receivable

359,773

319,814

318,787

319,814

Rent received or receivable

207,395

135,195

207,395

135,195

68,901

34,825

63

1,816

2,263,204

1,356,319

1,501,005

1,141,771

2,209,050

1,789,739

1,915,836

1,789,739

100,281

27,304

70,769

27,304

0

0

213,521

0

2,309,331

1,817,043

2,200,126

1,817,043

Other revenue

Other income
Government Research grants
Government Export grants
Foreign currency gain

Government grants
During the year, the Group recognised income from government grants as follows:
2006
$
•

Commercial Ready grant

•

START grant

•
•

2005
$

393,541

0

1,376,851

1,710,986

BIF grant

438,658

78,753

EMDG grant

100,281

27,304

There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching to these grants.
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NOTE 5: EXPENSES

Consolidated
2005
$

2006
$

328,858

317,639

328,858

317,639

54,718
268,746
224,468
547,932

29,297
218,273
223,269
470,839

21,529
178,809
224,468
424,806

18,863
218,273
223,269
460,405

487,193
768
487,961

33,245
13,410
46,655

0
768
768

0
13,410
13,410

169,103

96,872

169,103

40,885

3,154,412
168,323
232,625
3,555,360

2,143,081
145,339
266,836
2,555,256

2,325,903
143,042
232,625
2,701,570

1,980,439
145,339
266,836
2,392,614

0

0

0

266,055

70,626

40,527

0

0

0
(156,438)
(156,438)

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

(156,438)
(156,438)

0
0

0
0

0

(5,553,388)

(4,899,150)

(4,044,598)

(4,812,549)

(1,666,016)

(1,469,745)

(1,213,379)

(1,443,765)

2,675
69,788

1,311
80,051

2,675
69,788

1,311
80,051

2006
$

Parent entity
2005
$

Loss before income tax expense includes the
following specific expenses:
Financing costs
- Interest paid or payable

Depreciation:
- Administrative plant and equipment
- Scientific plant and equipment
- Building

Amortisation of non-current assets
- Intellectual property
- Licenses

Rental expense on operating leases
- Minimum lease payments
Employment benefit expenses of:
- Wages and salaries
- Superannuation
- Share based payments

Foreign currency loss
Cost of sales
NOTE 6: INCOME TAX
(a) Income tax expense/(benefit)
Current tax
Deferred tax
Income tax expense is attributable to:
Decrease in deferred tax liabilities (note 18)

(b)

Numerical reconciliation of
income tax expense to prima
facie tax payable
Loss before income tax expense
Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30%
(2005-30%)
Tax effect of amounts which are not
deductible (taxable) in calculating
taxable income:
Entertainment
Share-based payments
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2006
$
Research & Development
expenditure
Income tax benefit not recognised
Income tax expenses/(benefit)
(c)

Tax losses
Estimated tax losses for which no
deferred tax asset has been recognised
Potential tax benefit at 30%

Unrecognised temporary differences
The amount of deductible temporary
differences for which no deferred tax
asset is recognised in the balance sheet
Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Employee benefits
Unearned grant income
Accrued expenses
Unrealised foreign exchange loss
Capital patent costs
Amounts recognised directly in equity
Share issue expenses

Consolidated
2005
$

2006
$

Parent entity
2005
$

(229,361)
(1,822,915)
1,666,477
(156,438)

(98,845)
(1,487,228)
1,487,228
0

(195,538)
(1,336,456)
1,336,456
0

(98,845)
(1,461,248)
1,461,248
0

29,640,936
8,892,281

23,933,047
7,179,914

28,464,593
8,539,378

23,846,447
7,153,934

92,769
24,604
34,403
15,760
357,067

76,346
12,968
14,223
79,816
208,295

92,769
24,604
34,403
15,760
273,776

76,346
12,968
14,223
79,816
208,295

118,985
643,588

180,386
572,034

118,985
560,297

180,386
572,034

(7,527)
(636,061)
0

(2,654)
(569,381)
0

(7,527)
(552,770)
0

(2,653)
(569,381)
0

(d)

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities of parent entity
pursuant to set-off provisions (note 18)
Temporary differences not recognised

(e)

Deferred tax assets
Potential future deferred tax assets attributable to tax
losses carried forward and temporary differences have not
been brought to account in the consolidated accounts at
30 June 2006 because the realisation of the future income
tax benefit is not considered probable pursuant to the
provisions of AASB 112 Income Taxes.

NOTE 7: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2006
$

Consolidated
2005
$

2006
$

Parent entity
2005
$

Current
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the
statements of cash flows is reconciled to items in
the balance sheets as follows:
Cash at bank and on hand
Deposits at call
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1,425,844
3,302,383
4,728,227

2,266,222
6,738,857
9,005,079

1,406,676
3,302,383
4,709,059

1,791,032
6,738,857
8,529,889
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(a)

Cash at bank and on hand
The cash at bank and on hand are both non-interest bearing
and interest bearing with rates between 4.72% and 5.02%
[2005: 4.97%].

(b)

Deposits at call
The deposits at call are interest bearing at rates between
4.3% and 5.8%. These deposits have an average maturity
of 82 days. [2005: 5.4%].

(c)

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to interest rates and the effective
weighted average interest rate by maturity period is set
out in note 23.

NOTE 8: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current
Trade receivables
Provision for doubtful debts
Other receivables
Amounts receivable from wholly owned subsidiaries

2006
$

Consolidated
2005
$

249,184
(34,991)
214,193
28,161
0
242,353

51,697
0
51,697
89,411
0
141,108

2006
$

Parent entity
2005
$

28,022
0
28,022
9,696
2,889,061
2,926,779

12,367
0
12,367
58,944
2,656,500
2,727,811

Effective interest rates and credit risk
Information concerning the effective interest rate and credit risk is set out in note 23.

NOTE 9: INVENTORIES
Current
Raw material – at cost
NOTE 10: OTHER ASSETS
Current
Prepayments
Accrued interest & grants receivable

NOTE 11: OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Non-current
Shares in subsidiaries – at cost
(a)

Note

Consolidated
2006
2005
$
$

Parent entity
2006
2005
$
$

44,841

31,069

0

0

107,774
34,907
142,681

252,385
8,844
261,229

81,708
34,907
116,615

204,091
8,844
212,935

0

0

5,561,280

66,736

Controlled entities
Country of Incorporation
Parent entity
Bionomics Limited
Subsidiaries of
Bionomics Limited:
Neurofit SAS
Iliad Chemicals Pty Limited
Bionomics Inc

Percentage Owned (%)
2006
2005

Australia

France
Australia
United States

100
100
100
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(b)

Other financial assets
Controlled entities are accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements as set out in note 1(b). These financial
assets are carried at cost, in the parent company financial
statements.

(c)

Business combinations
For details relating to business combinations, refer to
note 32.
Consolidated
2006
2005
$
$

NOTE 12: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Non-current
Administrative plant and equipment – at cost
Accumulated depreciation

Scientific plant and equipment – at cost
Accumulated depreciation

350,954
156,727
194,226

312,273
102,010
210,263

206,653
113,639
93,014

189,210
92,109
97,101

2,121,903
1,541,405
580,498

1,709,016
1,277,533
431,483

1,730,242
1,452,468
277,774

1,709,016
1,277,533
431,483

87,500
4,874
82,626

0
0
0

87,500
4,874
82,626

0
0
0

5,631,190
967,978
4,663,212

5,631,190
743,510
4,887,680

5,631,190
967,978
4,663,212

5,631,190
743,510
4,887,680

125,000

125,000

125,000

125,000

8,316,547
2,670,984
5,645,561

7,777,479
2,123,053
5,654,426

7,780,585
2,538,959
5,241,625

7,654,416
2,113,152
5,541,264

Leased plant and equipment – at cost
Accumulated depreciation

Building – at cost
Accumulated depreciation

Land – at cost
Total property, plant and equipment – at cost
Total accumulated depreciation
Total property, plant and equipment – net book amount

Parent entity
2006
2005
$
$

Non-current assets pledged as security
Refer to note 15 for information on non-current assets pledged
as security by the Company.
Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of property,
plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the current and
previous financial years are set out below.
Consolidated

Administrative Scientific
plant &
plant &
equipment
equipment
$
$
Carrying amount at 1 July 2005
210,263
431,483
Additions
23,814
160,267
Acquisition of subsidiary
14,643
252,620
Foreign currency exchange differences
223
0
Depreciation (note 5)
(54,718)
(263,872)
Carrying amount at 30 June 2006
194,225
580,498
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Land and
building
$
5,012,680
0
0
0
(224,468)
4,788,212

Leased plant
and
equipment
$
0
87,500
0
0
(4,874)
82,626

Total

$
5,654,426
271,581
267,263
223
(547,932)
5,645,561

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Parent Entity

Administrative Scientific
plant &
plant &
equipment
equipment
$
$
Carrying amount at 1 July 2005
97,101
431,483
Additions
17,442
21,225
Depreciation (note 5)
(21,529)
(173,935)
Carrying amount at 30 June 2006
93,014
278,773

Consolidated

Carrying amount at 1 July 2004
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation (note 5)
Foreign currency exchange differences
Cost adjustment
Carrying amount at 30 June 2005

Parent Entity

Carrying amount at 1 July 2004
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation (note 5)
Cost adjustment
Carrying amount at 30 June 2005

Land and
building
$
5,012,680
0
(224,468)
4,788,212

Administrative
plant &
equipment
$
108,273
132,743
(1,989)
(29,297)
533
0
210,263

Scientific
plant &
equipment
$
364,137
285,770
(151)
(218,273)
0
0
431,483

Administrative
plant &
equipment
$
108,273
9,680
(1,989)
(18,863)
0
97,101

Scientific
plant &
equipment
$
364,137
285,70
(151)
(218,273)
0
431,483

NOTE 13: INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Non-current
Licences – at cost
Accumulated amortisation

Consolidated
2006
2005
$
$

Leased plant
and
equipment
$
0
87,500
(4,874)
82,626

Land and
building
$
5,504,319
0
0
(223,269)
0
(268,370)
5,012,680

Land and
building
$
5,504,319
0
0
(223,269)
(268,370)
5,012,680

Total

$
5,541,264
126,167
(425,806)
5,241,625

Total

$
5,976,729
418,513
(2,140)
(470,839)
533
(268,370)
5,654,426

Total

$
5,976,729
295,450
(2,140)
(460,405)
(268,370)
5,541,264

Parent entity
2006
2005
$
$

212,666
212,666
0

213,754
212,986
768

212,666
212,666
0

212,666
212,666
0

Intellectual property – at cost
Accumulated amortisation

7,253,741
519,667
6,734,074

1,989,159
33,245
1,955,914

0
0
0

0
0
0

Goodwill – at cost

2,177,022

596,748

0

0

8,911,096

2,553,430

0

0

Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of intangible
asset at the beginning and end of the current and previous
financial years are set out below.
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Consolidated

Goodwill

Carrying amount at 1 July 2005
Acquisition of subsidiary
Foreign currency exchange differences
Amortisation (note 5)
Carrying amount at 30 June 2006

$
596,748
1,529,298
50,976
0
2,177,022

Intellectual
property
$
1,955,914
5,094,659
170,694
(487,193)
6,734,074

Licenses

Intellectual
property
$
0
1,989,159
0
(33,245)
1,955,914

Licenses

$
768
0
0
(768)
0

Total
$
2,553,430
6,623,957
221,670
(487,961)
8,911,096

No material movements in intangible assets occurred for the
parent entity during the current financial year.
Consolidated

Goodwill
$

Carrying amount at 1 July 2004
Acquisition of subsidiary
Foreign currency exchange differences
Amortisation (note 5)
Carrying amount at 30 June 2005

0
647,725
(50,977)
0
596,748

No material movements in intangible assets occurred for the
parent entity during the previous financial year.
(a)

Intangible assets
The intellectual property amount disclosed includes the
company’s Multicore® technology, its BNC105 compound
and its Kv1.3 compound with carrying amounts ranging from
$1.3m to $2.3m. Each item is carried at its fair value as at
its date of acquisition, less accumulated amortisation charges.
They have not been revalued to fair value as at 30 June 2006.
The remaining amortisation periods for each item is
between 13 and 14 years.

(b)

Impairment tests for goodwill
Management tests annually whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy
stated in note 1 (o) (ii). All Group entities operate in the
drug discovery and development segment. Although the
Group operates in this segment in both Australia and Europe
the risks and returns associated with the operations of each
geographical segment are not materially different and
therefore the lowest cash generating unit used in assessing
goodwill impairment is the Group.
In the absence of a reliable estimable income stream an
analysis of the market capitalisation of Bionomics is used to
support the carrying value of intangibles after eliminating the
fair value of the Groups net tangible assets. This represents
an assumption of fair value less costs to sell, with respect
to impairment testing, rather than value in use.
Based on Bionomics current share price and the resultant
surplus over net tangible assets, no impairment charge is
necessary for the year ended 30 June 2006 in either the
parent entity or the Group.

52

BIONOMICS ANNUAL REPORT 2006

$
14,178
0
0
(13,410)
768

Total
$
14,178
2,636,884
(50,979)
(46,655)
2,553,430
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NOTE 14: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Current
Trade payables
Accrued expenses
Loan from other parties (non-interest bearing)

Consolidated
2006
2005
$
$

Parent entity
2006
2005
$
$

1,077,299
465,554
50,000
1,592,853

957,797
258,084
50,000
1,265,881

761,285
377,414
50,000
1,188,699

734,494
218,685
50,000
1,003,179

Trade payables

45,455

0

29,297

0

NOTE 15: BORROWINGS

Consolidated
2006
2005
$
$

Non-current

Current
Lease liabilities
Building loan agreement

Non-current
Lease liabilities
Building loan agreement

Parent entity
2006
2005
$
$

30,030
383,800
413,830

0
358,175
358,175

30,030
383,800
413,830

0
358,175
358,175

63,230
3,903,636
3,966,866

0
4,287,800
4,287,800

63,230
3,903,636
3,966,866

0
4,287,800
4,287,800

The ten year building loan agreement is secured by the land
and building (refer note 12) and has interest charged on a
quarterly basis at a fixed rate of 6.97% per annum.
The three year lease line is secured by the leased scientific
equipment (refer note 12) and has an interest rate of
7.85% per annum.
Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to interest rates and the effective
weighted average interest rate by maturity period is set
out in note 23.

NOTE 16: PROVISIONS

Consolidated
2006
2005
$
$

Parent entity
2006
2005
$
$

Current
Employee benefits

456,896

255,389

251,921

206,965

Non-current
Employee benefits

57,311

47,520

57,311

47,520

217,776

155,820

191,779

153,336

NOTE 17: OTHER LIABILITIES
Current
Unearned income
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NOTE 18: DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
Non-current
(a) The balance comprises temporary
differences attributable to:
Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Accrued interest
Intangible assets

(b)

Consolidated
2006
2005
$
$

Parent entity
2006
2005
$
$

7,527
2,017,494
2,025,021

2,653
596,748
599,401

7,527
0
7,527

2,653
0
2,653

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities of parent entity
pursuant to set-off provisions
Net deferred tax liabilities

(7,527)
2,017,494

(2,653)
596,748

(7,527)
0

(2,653)
0

Movements:
Opening balance at 1 July 2005
Acquisition of subsidiary
Credited to the income statement (note 6)
Exchange differences
Closing balance at 30 June 2006

596,748
1,529,298
(156,438)
47,886
2,017,494

0
647,725
0
(50,977)
596,748

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

NOTE 19: CONTRIBUTED EQUITY
(a)
Issued and paid-up capital
Ordinary shares – fully paid

Consolidated
2006
2005
Shares
Shares
154,918,432

112,901,086

Parent entity
2006
2005
$
$
38,037,759

32,791,790

Issue price

$
26,155,308
100,000
36
52,288
419,041
6,357,500
(292,383)
32,791,790
17,000
5,113,637
115,332
38,037,759

Movements in ordinary shares of the Company during
the past two years were as follows:
Date
1 July 2004
28 July 2004
13 August 2004
17 November 2004
1 March 2005
28 June 2005
30 June 2005
1 July 2005
1 July 2005
18 November 2005
30 June 2006
(b)

Details
Number of shares
Opening balance
63,294,251
Share issue – Equity Line Finance Agreement
454,582
Share issue – conversion of listed options
72
Share issue – directors’ fees
237,671
Share issue – Neuro3d
1,821,918
Share issue – placement
47,092,592
Less capital raising costs associated with the placement
Closing Balance
112,901,086
Share issue – employee ESP shares
147,143
Share issue – Iliad purchase
40,909,091
Share issue – directors fees in lieu of cash
961,112
Closing Balance
154,918,432

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends
and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the
shares held.
On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present
at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote,
and upon a poll each share is entitled to one vote.
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(c)

$0.22
$0.50
$0.22
$0.23
$0.135

$0.115
$0.125
$0.12

Share options
When exercised, each option is convertible into one
ordinary share. The exercise price is based on the weighted
average price at which the company’s shares traded on the
ASX during the seven trading days immediately before the
options are granted.
(i)

The Bionomics ESOP

The terms and conditions of the Bionomics ESOP are
summarised in note 1(r) (iv).

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2006
Grant date

Expiry date

June 2002

June 2008
June 2009
June 2010
June 2011
June 2012
February 2009
February 2010
January 2009
January 2010
January 2011
January 2012
January 2013
January 2014
March 2010
March 2011
March 2012
March 2013
March 2014
March 2010
March 2011
March 2012
March 2013
March 2014
November 2009
November 2009
September 2010
September 2011
September 2012
September 2013
January 2010
December 2010
January 2011
December 2011
January 2012
December 2012
January 2013
December 2013
January 2014
December 2014
January 2015
February 2011
February 2012
February 2013
February 2014
February 2015
January 2009
August 2011
August 2012
August 2013
August 2014
August 2015
October 2010
June 2011
June 2012
June 2013
January 2011
January 2012
January 2013
January 2014
January 2015
January 2016
April 2012
April 2013
April 2014
April 2015
April 2016

February 2003
January 2004

March 2004

August 2004
September 2004

December 2004

January 2005

June 2005
August 2005

September 2005
October 2005

January 2006

April 2006

Exercise
price
$0.81
$0.81
$0.81
$0.81
$0.81
$0.43
$0.43
$0.30
$0.30
$0.30
$0.30
$0.30
$0.30
$0.37
$0.37
$0.37
$0.37
$0.37
$0.38
$0.38
$0.38
$0.38
$0.38
$0.21
$0.24
$0.24
$0.24
$0.24
$0.24
$0.27
$0.27
$0.27
$0.27
$0.27
$0.27
$0.27
$0.27
$0.27
$0.27
$0.27
$0.30
$0.30
$0.30
$0.30
$0.30
$0.22
$0.13
$0.13
$0.13
$0.13
$0.13
$0.11
$0.13
$0.13
$0.13
$0.24
$0.24
$0.24
$0.24
$0.24
$0.24
$0.20
$0.20
$0.20
$0.20
$0.20

Balance at
start of year
346,666
346,666
346,667
346,667
346,667
40,000
10,000
147,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
7,000
7,000
7,000
7,000
7,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
75,000
500,000
300,000
300,000
300,000
300,000
166,000
14,000
55,000
14,000
55,000
14,000
55,000
14,000
55,000
14,000
55,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
135,000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
5,436,333

Issued during
the year
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
100,000
340,000
340,000
340,000
133,000
195,000
195,000
195,000
195,000
195,000
100,000
100,000
100,000
100,000
100,000
2,978,000

Balance at end
of the year
346,666
346,666
346,667
346,667
346,667
40,000
10,000
147,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
7,000
7,000
7,000
7,000
7,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
75,000
500,000
300,000
300,000
300,000
300,000
166,000
14,000
55,000
14,000
55,000
14,000
55,000
14,000
55,000
14,000
55,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
135,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
100,000
340,000
340,000
340,000
133,000
195,000
195,000
195,000
195,000
195,000
100,000
100,000
100,000
100,000
100,000
8,414,333
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(ii)

Other Unlisted Options

Grant date

Expiry date

Exercise
price

4 October 2000
4 October 2000
4 October 2000
4 October 2000
4 October 2000
18 June 2001
12 December 2001
12 December 2001
12 December 2001
12 December 2001
21 January 2002
3 February 2003
4 March 2003
14 July 2003
19 December 2003
31 March 2004
1 June 2004
8 February 2005
13 January 2006

19 June 2007
19 June 2008
19 June 2009
19 June 2009
19 June 2010
18 June 2006
8 August 2007
14 May 2008
14 May 2009
14 May 2009
1 January 2007
13 January 2008
4 March 2008
14 July 2008
18 January 2009
1 April 2009
1 January 2009
7 February 2010
13 January 2011

$1.00
$1.00
$1.00
$1.40
$1.40
$1.30
$0.95
$1.20
$1.20
$1.40
$0.79
$0.43
$0.40
$0.28
$0.30
$0.30
$0.25
$0.26
$0.24

Balance
at start
of year
340,000
340,000
170,000
170,000
680,000
15,000
200,000
60,000
40,000
20,000
25,000
150,000
301,000
100,000
50,000
25,000
150,000
50,000
0
2,886,000

2006
number
7,526,668

Unlisted Options Vested at the Reporting Date
(iii)

Listed Options

During 2003-2004 the Company issued 9,796,567
listed options. Each option is convertible into one
ordinary share ranking equally with all other ordinary
shares of the Company, at any time on or before 31
July 2007 at a fixed price of $0.50. As at 30 June
2006, 745 of these options had been exercised
(2005 – 745).
During 2004-2005 the Company issued 31,530,063
listed options (135,000 of these options were issued
to employees and are included in the ESOP table above).
Each option is convertible into one ordinary share
ranking equally with all other ordinary shares of the
Company, at any time on or before 31 January 2009
at a fixed price of $0.22. As at 30 June 2006, none
of these options had been exercised.
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Issued
during the
year
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
20,000
20,000

(iv)

Lapsed
during
the year
0
0
0
0
0
15,000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
15,000

Balance at
end of the
year
340,000
340,000
170,000
170,000
680,000
0
200,000
60,000
40,000
20,000
25,000
150,000
301,000
100,000
50,000
25,000
150,000
50,000
20,000
2,891,000

2005
number
4,891,000

Weighted averages

The weighted average remaining contractual life of any
unlisted share options outstanding at the end of the year is
5.25 years.
The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted
during the year ended 30 June 2006 is outlined in the
Remuneration Report on page 26. The share price at grant
date of these options range between $0.24 and $0.25.
The expected price volatility of the company shares was
92%. Expected dividend yield was 0% and the risk free
interest rate used was 5.35%.

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2006
NOTE 20: RESERVES
(a) Foreign currency translation reserve
Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign
controlled entity are taken to the foreign currency translation
reserve as described in note 1(d). The reserve is recognised
in income statement when the investment is disposed of.
Consolidated
2006
2005
$
$
Opening balance
Adjustment arising from the translation of foreign
controlled entities’ financial statements
Closing balance

Parent entity
2006
2005
$
$

(256,021)

0

0

0

185,597
(70,424)

(256,021)
(256,021)

0
0

0
0

Opening balance
Option expense
Closing balance

271,907
232,624
504,531

5,071
266,836
271,907

271,907
232,624
504,531

5,071
266,836
271,907

Total reserves

434,106

15,886

504,531

271,907

(22,128,637)
(5,396,950)
(27,525,587)

(17,229,488)
(4,899,150)
(22,128,638)

(22,042,037)
(4,044,598)
(26,086,635)

(17,229,488)
(4,812,549)
(22,042,037)

(b)

Share based payments reserve
The share based payments reserve is used to
recognise the fair value of options issued but
not exercised.

NOTE 21: ACCUMULATED LOSSES
Balance at the beginning of the year
Net loss for the year
Balance at the end of the year

NOTE 22: CONTINGENCIES
(a) Contingent consideration
In the event that certain development milestones are
achieved by the subsidiary Iliad, additional consideration of
up to $1,704,545 is payable in equity. At the date of this
financial report no additional payments are considered probable.
(b)

Service commitments
Pursuant to the terms and agreements entered into by the
Company with both the Women’s and Children’s Hospital
(WCH) and the University of Melbourne (U of M) to acquire
the licence for the epilepsy project from the WCH and the
U of M and the breast cancer project from the WCH, the
Company is liable to make further payments to the WCH and
the U of M upon the achievement of certain conditions.
Pursuant to the terms and agreement entered into by the
Company with Medvet Science Pty Ltd (Medvet), for the
angiogenesis project, the Company is liable to make further
payments to Medvet upon the achievement of certain conditions.
Due to the confidential nature of the agreements, further
disclosure would not be in the Company’s best interests.
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NOTE 23: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Interest rate risk exposures
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective
weighted average interest rate by maturity periods is set
out in the following table.

Notes

2006
Financial Assets
Cash and deposits
Receivables and other

7
8, 10

Weighted average interest rate
Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Building loan agreement
Other liabilities

14, 16,
17
15
14

Fixed interest for:
Floating
One year or
More than
interest rate
less
five years

Notes

2005
Financial Assets
Cash and deposits
Receivables and other

7
8, 10

Weighted average interest rate
Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Building loan agreement
Other liabilities

14, 16, 17
15
14

(b)

0
0
0

7,196
385,034
392,230

4,728,227
385,034
5,113,261

0

0

0

2,320,281

2,370,281

0
0
0

413,830
0
413,830
6.97%

3,966,866
0
3,966,866
6.97%

0
50,000
2,370,281

4,380,696
0
6,750,977

1,418,648

2,888,553

(3,966,866)

(1,978,051)

(1,637,716)

Fixed interest for:
Floating
One year or
More than
interest rate
less
five years

Total

6,738,857
0
6,738,857
5.4%

0
0
0

7,206
402,337
409,543

9,005,079
402,337
9,407,416

0
0
0
0

0
358,175
0
358,175
6.97%

0
4,287,800
0
4,287,800
6.97%

1,674,580
0
50,000
1,724,580

1,674,580
4,645,975
50,000
6,370,555

2,259,016

6,380,682

(4,287,800)

(1,315,037)

3,036,861

Credit Risk Exposures
The credit risk on financial assets of the entity that have
been recognised in the balance sheet is generally the
carrying amount, net of any provisions for doubtful debts.
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Noninterest
bearing

2,259,016
0
2,259,016
4.97%

The net fair value of financial assets and liabilities of the
Group approximates their carrying amounts.
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Total

3,302,383
0
3,302,383
5.59%

Weighted average interest rate
Net financial assets (liabilities)

Noninterest
bearing

1,418,648
0
1,418,648
5.04%

Weighted average interest rate
Net financial assets (liabilities)

Exposures arise predominantly from assets and liabilities
bearing variable interest rates as the entity intends to hold
fixed rate assets and liabilities to maturity.

(c)

Foreign exchange risk exposures
Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities are
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional
currency. The Group operates internationally and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from currency
exposure to major currencies, including the Euro, but
neither the transactions nor the assets and liabilities
involved are currently considered material. As a
consequence the Group does not use derivative financial
instruments to hedge such exposures.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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NOTE 24: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES
(a) Directors
The following persons were directors of Bionomics during
the financial year and prior year unless otherwise stated:
Non-Executive Chairman
Dr Peter Jonson
Executive Directors
Dr Deborah Rathjen, Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director
Non-Executive Directors
Dr George Jessup
Dr Christopher Henney (resigned 30 June 2006)
Mr Peter Maddern (resigned 30 June 2006)
Dr George Morstyn (resigned 16 June 2006)
In the prior year, Mr Fraser Ainsworth was non-executive director up until his resignation (11 November 2004).
(b)

Other key management personnel
The following persons also had authority and responsibility
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the
Group directly or indirectly during the financial year:

Name
Mr Stephen Birrell
Dr Bernard Flynn
Dr Gabriel Kremmidiotis
Dr Frank Sams-Dodd
Dr Alex Szabo

Position
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary
(Company Secretary from 6 October 2005 and Chief Financial Officer from 17 October 2005)
Vice President Chemistry (From 1 July 2005)

Vice President Cancer Research
Vice President Pre Clinical Research and General Manager Neurofit SAS (From 1 January 2006)
Vice President Business Development

Key management personnel who left during the year were Mr Francis Placanica (16 September 2005) and Ms Jill Mashado
(6 October 2005). Both were key management personnel in the prior financial year together with Mr Lee Craker until his
resignation (28 January 2005).

(c)

Key management personnel compensation
Consolidated
2006
2005
$
$
Short term employee benefits
Post employment benefits
Share based payments
Total key management personnel compensation

1,373,594
69,148
291,067
1,733,809

1,032,750
62,857
504,546
1,600,153

Parent entity
2006
2005
$
$
1,239,404
69,148
288,514
1,597,066

1,032,750
62,857
504,546
1,600,153

The company has taken advantage of the relief provided by
ASIC Class Order 06/50 and has transferred the detailed
remuneration disclosures to the Directors Report. The
relevant information can be found in sections (1) to (3) of
the Remuneration Report set out on pages 26 to 31.
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(d)

Equity instrument disclosures relating to key
management personnel
(i)

Options provided as remuneration and shares issued
on the exercise of such options, together with the terms
and conditions of the options can be found in section
4 of the Remuneration Report on pages 26 to 31.

(ii)

The number of options over ordinary shares in the
company held by each director of the company and
other key management personnel (including personally
related parties) of the Group are set out below:

2006
Options
Name
Directors
Dr Peter Jonson
Dr Deborah Rathjen
Dr George Jessup1
Dr Christopher Henney
Mr Peter Maddern
Dr George Morstyn
Key Management Personnel
Mr Stephen Birrell
Dr Bernard Flynn
Dr Gabriel Kremmidiotis
Dr Frank Sams-Dodd
Dr Alex Szabo

Balance at
the start of
the year

Granted during
the year as
compensation

Other
changes
during
the year

Balance at
year end

Vested and
exercisable
at year end

1,000,000
2,389,022
0
500,000
500,000
977,477

0
1,120,000
0
0
0
0

0
0
494,000
0
0
0

1,000,000
3,509,022
494,000
500,000
500,000
977,477

200,000
2,615,000
494,000
200,000
200,000
677,477

0
0
265,000
0
5,000

500,000
250,000
50,000
0
250,000

0
0
0
0
0

500,000
250,000
315,000
0
255,000

0
0
275,000
0
5,000

1

In addition to the above options Dr George Jessup has interests in 9,382,716 listed options over ordinary shares in Bionomics
Limited (held by Start-up Australia Ventures Pty Limited).
Ms Jill Mashado and Mr Francis Placanica left the company during the year. There were no changes to their option holdings
from 2005.
2005
Options

Name
Directors
Dr Peter Jonson
Dr Deborah Rathjen
Dr Christopher Henney
Mr Peter Maddern
Dr George Morstyn
Mr Fraser Ainsworth
Key Management Personnel
Dr Gabriel Kremmidiotis
Dr Alex Szabo
Mr Francis Placanica
Ms Jill Mashado
Mr Lee Craker
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Balance at
the start of
the year

Numbers of
options granted
during the year
as
compensation

Other
changes
during
the year

Balance at
year end

0
2,214,047
0
0
230,477
14,339

1,000,000
75,000
500,000
500,000
500,000
0

0
99,975
0
0
247,000
(4,430)

1,000,000
2,389,022
500,000
500,000
977,477
9,909

0
2,189,022
100,000
100,000
577,477
9,909

240,000
0
270,000
208,333
500,000

25,000
5,000
25,000
55,000
30,000

0
0
0
0
(500,000)

265,000
5,000
295,000
263,333
30,000

185,000
5,000
195,000
194,001
30,000
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Vested and
exercisable
at year end

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2006
(iii)

The number of shares in the company held by each
director of the company and other key management
personnel (including personally related parties) of the
Group are set out below:

2006
Shares

Name
Directors
Dr Peter Jonson
Dr Deborah Rathjen
Dr George Jessup1
Dr Christopher Henney
Mr Peter Maddern
Dr George Morstyn
Key Management Personnel
Mr Stephen Birrell
Dr Bernard Flynn
Dr Gabriel Kremmidiotis

Balance at
the start of
the year

Granted during
the year as
compensation

Recieved
during the
year upon
exercise of
options

Other
changes
during the
year

Balanced at
year end

130,000
244,759
0
348,687
558,767
1,000,244

227,778
250,000
113,889
113,889
141,667
113,889

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
1,976,040
0
0
0

357,778
494,759
2,089,929
462,576
700,434
1,114,133

0
0
0

0
0
8,203

0
0
0

12,500
5,950,172
0

12,500
5,950,172
8,203

1

In addition to the above shares Dr George Jessup has interests in 42,701,966 ordinary shares in Bionomics Limited (held by Startup Australia Ventures Pty Limited).
Ms Jill Mashado and Mr Francis Placanica left the company during the year. There were no changes to their share holdings from 2005.

2005
Shares

Balance at
the start of
the year

Name
Directors
Dr Peter Jonson
Dr Deborah Rathjen
Dr Christopher Henney
Mr Peter Maddern
Dr George Morstyn
Mr Fraser Ainsworth
Key Management Personnel
No key management personnel held shares during the period.

0
244,759
286,566
481,494
347,623
229,399

(e)

Loans to Directors and Key Management Personnel
There were no loans to any directors of the company or key
management personnel of the Group during the financial year
ended 30 June 2006.

(f)

Other Transactions with Directors and Key
Management Personnel
There were no other transactions with directors of the
company or key management personnel of the Group during
the financial year.

Granted
during the
year as
compensation

0
0
62,121
77,273
62,121
0

Other
changes
durint the
year

Balanced at
year end

130,000
0
0
0
590,500
(229,399)

130,000
244,759
348,687
558,767
1,000,244
0

BIONOMICS ANNUAL REPORT 2006

61

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2006

NOTE 25: EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

Consolidated
2006
2005
$
$

Parent entity
2006
2005
$
$

During the year the following services were
paid to the external auditor:
Assurance Services
(a) Audit services
Fees paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia for:
•
Audit and review of financial reports and other audit
work under the Corporations Act 2001
•
AIFRS services
Fees paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers
Strasbourg for audit of subsidiary
Total remuneration for audit services

55,000
75,000

44,240
0

55,000
75,000

44,240
0

16,591
146,591

10,848
55,088

0
130,000

0
44,240

(b) Other assurance services
Fees paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia for:
•
Audit of government research grants
Total remuneration for assurance services

33,150
179,741

10,600
65,688

27,850
157,850

10,600
54,840

(c) Taxation services
Fees paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia for:
•
Tax compliance services, including review of
Company income tax returns
Total remuneration for taxation services

15,550
15,550

19,006
19,006

15,550
15,550

19,006
19,006

It is the Group’s practice to employ PricewaterhouseCoopers on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where
PricewaterhouseCoopers’ expertise and experience with the Group are important. In 2005-2006 these assignments were restricted to
taxation advice and acquittal of grant expenditure.

NOTE 26: COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE
Service contract commitments payable
- not later than one year
(a)

Parent entity
2006
2005
$
$

440,103

428,968

440,103

428,968

35,878
68,797
104,675
(11,415)
93,260

0
0
0
0
0

35,878
68,797
104,675
(11,415)
93,260

0
0
0
0
0

30,030
63,230
93,260

0
0
0

30,030
63,230
93,260

0
0
0

Finance leases
The Group leases scientific equipment with a carrying
amount of $87,500 (2005: 0) for a period of 3 years.
Under the terms of the lease, the Group retains
ownership at the completion of the agreed term.

Commitments in relation to the finance lease
that are payable:
Within one year
Later than one year but not greater than five
Minimum lease payments
Future finance charges
Total lease liabilities
Represented by:
Current (note 15)
Non-current (note 15)
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Consolidated
2006
2005
$
$
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(b)

Operating leases
The Group has operating leases for various scientific and
office equipment. Under the terms of these leases,
the Group has no ownership at the completion of the
agreed term.

Commitments in relation to the operating leases
that are payable:

Consolidated
2006
2005
$
$
174,050
174,050
144,613
320,713
318,663
494,763

Within one year
Later than one year but not greater than five
Minimum lease payments

(c)

Parent entity
2006
2005
$
$
174,050
174,050
144,613
320,713
318,663
494,763

Rental arrangements
The Group sub-lets areas of its facility under agreements
that are renewed annually. Rent received from these
agreements are treated according to the accounting policy
outlined in note 1 (e).

NOTE 27: EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER REPORTING DATE
As per the Company’s ASX announcement on 21 September 2006,
a placement of 36 million shares to institutional and sophisticated
investors including top twenty shareholders has raised $5 million
which will allow Bionomics to continue to deliver on its milestones
for BNC105 and to progress its epilepsy, anxiety and multiple
sclerosis programs towards drug candidate selection.

NOTE 28: CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Consolidated
2006
2005
$
$

2006
$

Parent entity
2005
$

Reconciliation of operating loss after income tax to net cash
outflow from operating activities
Loss after income tax
Non-cash items in loss
Depreciation and amortisation
Directors’ fee and Share based payments
ELF Agreement
Net loss on sale of non-current assets
Net foreign exchange differences
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Decrease/(Increase) in debtors and other assets
Decrease/(Increase) in other operating assets
Decrease/(Increase) in inventory
Income tax benefit
Provision for employee entitlements
Increase/(Decrease) in creditors and accruals
Net cash outflows from operating activities
NOTE 29: NON-CASH FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Directors’ fees satisfied by the issue of shares
Fees relating to the Equity Line Finance Agreement satisfied by
the issue of shares

(5,396,950)

(4,899,150)

(4,044,597)

(4,812,549)

969,947
365,048
0
0
0

520,390
319,124
100,000
2,140
0

425,806
364,957
0
0
(213,521)

474,582
319,124
100,000
2,140
266,055

12,339
133,671
(10,522)
(156,438)
32,128
300,967
(3,749,810)

3,799
(123,709)
(32,744)
0
158,586
618,549
(3,333,015)

(15,655)
89,847
0
0
54,748
542,442
(2,864,204)

45,249
(2,967,260)
0
0
107,551
308,228
(6,156,880)

115,332

52,288

115,332

52,288

0

100,000

0

100,000
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Consolidated
2006
cents
(3.4)
(2.1)

NOTE 30: EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic and diluted earnings per share
Alternative earnings per share

2005
cents
(7.6)
(4.8)

The alternative earnings per share amounts have been calculated
to demonstrate the impact on basic earnings per share should all
options on issue at 30 June 2006 be converted to ordinary shares.
These options are anti-dilutive.
The basic and diluted and alternative earnings per share amounts
have been calculated using the ‘Loss after related income tax’
figure in the income statement.
Consolidated

Weighted average number of shares used as the
denominator
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as a
denominator in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share

2006
Number

2005
Number

154,435,981

64,823,522

205,606,657

81,096,004

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and options used as
the denominator in calculating alternative earnings per share

Changes to shares and potential ordinary shares
since balance date
There have been no changes to shares and options since
balance date.
Information concerning the classification of securities
Options have been included in the determination of alternative
earnings per share. The options have not been included in the
determination of basic and diluted earnings per share. Details
relating to the options are set out in note 19(c).
NOTE 31: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Parent entities
The parent entity within the Group is Bionomics. Interests
in subsidiaries is set out in note 11.
(b)

Key management personnel
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are
set out in note 24.

((c)

Transactions with related parties
The following transactions occurred with related parties:
Consolidated
2006
2005
$
$

Research and Development expenses
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0

0

Parent entity
2006
2005
$
$
613,894

32,422

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2006
d)

Outstanding balances arising from sales and
purchases of services
The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date
in relation to transactions with related parties:
Consolidated
2006
2005
$
$
Current receivables
Subsidiaries

0

0

Parent entity
2006
2005
$
$
2,889,062

2,656,500

No provisions for doubtful debts have been raised in relation
to any outstanding balances, and no expenses has been
recognised in respect of bad or doubtful debts due from
related parties.
(d)

Loans to and from related parties
No loans to or from related parties have occurred
in the current or previous financial year.

NOTE 32: BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
(a) Summary of acquisition - lliad Chemicals Pty Limited
On 1 July 2005 the parent entity acquired 100% of the
issued share capital of Iliad.
At the date of acquisition, the acquired entity was involved in
chemical research in the areas of cancer and CNS.
The acquired business contributed revenues of $5,997,
other income of $319,021 and net loss of $846,267 to the
Group for the year ended 30 June 2006.
Details of the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired
are as follows:
Purchase consideration (refer to (i) below)
Shares issued – 40,909,091 ordinary shares in Bionomics
@ fair value of $0.125 based on the average quoted
price on 1 July 2005
Direct costs relating to the acquisition
Total purchase consideration
Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired (excluding
deferred tax liabilities) Goodwill (before impact of deferred
tax liabilities)

$
5,113,636
380,907
5,494,543
5,494,543
0
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(i) For details of contingent consideration, refer to note 22.
Consolidated
2006
2005
$
$
Outflow of cash to acquire subsidiary, net of cash
acquired:
Cash consideration
Less Balances acquired
- Cash and cash equivalents
Inflow of cash

Parent entity
2006
2005
$
$

(380,907)

0

(380,907)

0

396,802
15,895

0
0

0
(380,907)

0
0

The assets and liabilities acquired are recognised at fair
value, different which differs from the acquirees’s carrying
amount due to valuation methods. No acquisition provisions
were created.
The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition
are as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables
Plant and equipment
Intangible assets: intellectual property
Trade payables
Provision for employee benefits
Carrying value of net assets in the books of the acquiree
Fair value of net identifiable assets acquired (excluding
deferred tax liabilities)
Deferred Tax Liability associated with assets and liabilities
acquired
Goodwill associated with assets and liabilities acquired
According to AASB 112 Income Taxes the Group is required
to create a liability for future taxes based on the tax bases
of the assets and liabilities acquired. There is a corresponding
entry to goodwill which is generated as a result of the
application of this standard.
(b)

Neurofit
On 1 March 2005 the parent entity acquired the business
assets of Neurofit.
Neurofit contributed revenues of $752,202 (2005: $213,961)
and a net loss of $668,764 (2005: $354,374) to the Group
during the period from 1 July 2005 to 30 June 2006.
At the date of acquisition, Neurofit was involved in providing
in vivo tests of chemical compounds.
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Acquiree’s carrying
amount
$
396,803
16,041
267,263
411,875
(244,417)
(35,806)
811,759

Fair value
$
396,803
16,041
267,263
5,094,659
(244,417)
(35,806)

5,494,543
(1,528,398)
1,528,398

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2006
NOTE 33: EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO AUSTRALIAN
EQUIVALENTS TO IFRS
(a) Reconciliation of equity reported under previous
Australian Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (AGAAP) to equity under Australian
equivalents to IFRSs (AIFRS)
(i)

At the date of transition to AIFRS: 1 July 2004

Notes
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Other
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets

d(i)

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Other
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Payables
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
Contributed equity
Reserves
Accumulated losses
Total shareholders equity

d(ii)
d(ii)(iv)

Consolidated
Effect of
transition
to AIFRS
$

AIFRS
$

Previous
AGAAP
$

8,703,415
135,363
131,927
8,970,705

-

8,703,415
135,363
131,927
8,970,705

8,703,415
135,363
131,927
8,970,705

-

8,703,415
135,363
131,927
8,970,705

5,976,729
14,178
5,990,907
14,961,612

-

5,976,729
14,178
5,990,907
14,961,612

5,976,729
14,178
5,990,907
14,961,612

-

5,976,729
14,178
5,990,907
14,961,612

524,166
508,400
146,933
225,622
1,405,121

-

524,166
508,400
146,933
225,622
1,405,121

524,166
508,400
146,933
225,622
1,405,121

-

524,166
508,400
146,933
225,622
1,405,121

4,575,600
50,000
4,625,600
6,030,721
8,930,891

-

4,575,600
50,000
4,625,600
6,030,721
8,930,891

4,575,600
50,000
4,625,600
6,030,721
8,930,891

-

4,575,600
50,000
4,625,600
6,030,721
8,930,891

26,155,308
0
(17,224,417)
8,930,891

5,071
(5,071)
-

26,155,308
5,071
(17,229,488)
8,930,891

26,155,308
0
(17,224,417)
8,930,891

5,071
(5,071)
-

26,155,308
5,071
(17,229,488)
8,930,891

Previous
AGAAP
$

Parent
Effect of
transition
to AIFRS AIFRS
$
$
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(ii) At the end of the last reporting period under
previous AGAAP: 30 June 2004

Consolidated
Effect of
Previous transition
AGAAP
to AIFRS
$
$

Notes
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Other
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Receivables
Other financial assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total non-current assets
Total assets
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AIFRS
$

-

9,005,079
141,108
31,069
261,229
9,438,485

8,529,889
71,311
0
212,935
8,814,135

-

8,529,889
71,311
0
212,935
8,814,135

0
0
5,654,426
1,956,682
7,611,108
17,049,593

596,748
596,748
-

0
0
5,654,426
2,553,430
8,207,856
17,646,341

2,656,500
66,736
5,541,264
0
8,264,500
17,078,635

-

2,656,500
66,736
5,541,264
0
8,264,500
17,078,635

1,007,797
358,175
255,389
413,874
2,035,235

-

1,007,797
358,175
255,389
413,874
2,035,235

784,494
358,175
206,965
372,021
1,721,655

-

784,494
358,175
206,965
372,021
1,721,655

4,287,800
47,520
0
4,335,320
6,370,555
10,679,038

596,748
596,748
-

4,287,800
47,520
596,748
4,932,068
6,967,303
10,679,038

4,287,800
47,520
0
4,335,320
6,056,975
11,021,660

-

4,287,800
47,520
0
4,335,320
6,056,975
11,021,660

32,791,790
(256,021)
(21,856,731)
10,679,038

271,907
(271,907)
-

32,791,790
(15,886)
(22,128,638)
10,679,038

32,791,790
0
(21,770,130)
11,021,660

d(i)

d(ii)
d(ii)(iv)

Previous
AGAAP
$

9,005,079
141,108
31,069
261,229
9,438,485

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Other
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Deferred tax liability
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
Contributed equity
Reserves
Accumulated losses
Total shareholders equity

AIFRS
$

Parent
Effect of
transition
to AIFRS
$
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32,791,790
271,907
271,907
(271,907) (22,042,037)
11,021,660

Notes to the Financial Statements
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(b)

Reconciliation of loss under previous AGAAP to
loss under Australian equivalents to IFRSs (AIFRS)
(i) Reconciliation of loss for the year ended
30 June 2005

Notes
Revenue
Other income
Financing Costs
Depreciation and amortisation
expense
Administration employee and
directors benefits expense
Legal expenses
Research and Development
expenses
Shareholder and investor
relations expenses
Travel expenses
Foreign currency loss
Other expenses
Loss before income tax
Income tax expense
Loss attributable to members

d(iii)
d(iii)

d(ii)

Consolidated
Effect of
Previous transition
AGAAP
to AIFRS
$
$

AIFRS
$

Previous
AGAAP
$

Parent
Effect of
transition
to AIFRS
$

AIFRS
$

3,173,362 (1,817,043)
0 1,817,043
(317,639)
-

1,356,319
1,817,043
(317,639)

2,958,814 (1,817,043)
0 1,817,043
(317,639)
-

1,141,771
1,817,043
(317,639)

(520,390)

-

(520,390)

(474,582)

-

(474,582)

(1,267,056)
(158,970)

(266,836)
-

(1,533,892)
(158,970)

(1,010,602)
(155,071)

(266,836)
-

(1,277,438)
(155,071)

(4,457,955)

-

(4,457,955)

(4,457,955)

-

(4,457,955)

(141,333)
(289,303)
0
(653,030)
(4,632,314)
(4,632,314)

(266,836)
(266,836)

(141,333)
(289,303)
0
(653,030)
(4,899,150)
(4,899,150)

(141,333)
(185,952)
(266,055)
(495,338)
(4,545,713)
(4,545,713)

(266,836)
(266,836)

(141,333)
(185,952)
(266,055)
(495,338)
(4,812,549)
(4,812,549)

The income statement was also reclassified by function in the
current period, which required a reclassification of the comparative
figures. This reclassification has no effect on the overall net loss
for the entity.
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(c)

Reconciliation of cash flow statements for the
year ended 30 June 2005)
The adoption of AIFRS has not resulted in any adjustments
to the cash flow statement.

(d)

(ii)

Notes to the reconciliations
(i)

Share-based payments

Under AASB 2 Share-based Payment from 1 July
2004 the Group is required to recognise an expense
for those options that were issued to employees under
the Bionomics ESOP after 7 November 2002 but that
had not vested by 1 January 2005. The effect of
this is:

Business combinations

-

The Group has made a number of business
acquisitions in recent years. The Group has elected
to apply AASB 3 Business Combinations to all
acquisitions.

For the Group there has been an increase
in accumulated losses of $5,071 and a
corresponding increase in reserves.
-

Both Neurofit and Iliad assets and liabilities were
restated to fair value at the date of purchase. The
goodwill balance from the Neurofit purchase was
reclassified into intangible intellectual property
assets and amortised over the assets life, which was
assessed as 20 years as at 30 June 2005.
- at 30 June 2005
For the Group there has been an increase
in intangible intellectual property assets of
$1,955,914 and a decrease in goodwill of
$1,955,914 with no impact on accumulated
losses. As a result of the implementation of AASB
112, for the Group there has been an increase in
intangible assets – goodwill of $596,748 and an
increase in deferred tax liability of $596,748
-

for the year ended 30 June 2005

Business Combinations
Share Based Payments
Revenue
Total adjustment
Attributable to:
Equity holders of Bionomics
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at 30 June 2005

For the Group there has been an increase
in accumulated losses of $271,907 and a
corresponding increase in reserves.
-

for the year ended 30 June 2005

For the Group there has been an increase in
employee benefits expense of $266,836.
(iii)

Revenue

Under AASB 118 Revenue from 1 July 2004 the
Group is required to recognise as revenue only items
of revenue from ordinary activities. This has required a
reclassification of Government Grant income to other
income.
- for the year ended 30 June 2005
For the Group there has been a decrease in
revenue of $1,817,043 and an increase in other
revenue of $1,817,043.
(iv)

For the Group there has been an increase in
amortisation of intangible assets of $33,245 and
a decrease in amortisation of goodwill of $33,245
with no impact on accumulated losses.

Notes
(i)
(ii)
(iii)

at 1 July 2004

Accumulated losses

The effect on accumulated losses of the changes set
out above are as follows

1 July 2004
$
0
(5,071)
0
(5,071)

30 June 2005
$
0
(271,907)
0
(271,907)

(5,071)
(5,071)

(271,907)
(271,907)

Directors’ Declaration
In the directors’ opinion:
(a)

the financial statements and notes set out on pages 35 to 70 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i)
(ii)

(b)
(c)

Complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting
requirements; and
Giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2006 and of their performance,
as represented by the results of their operations, changes in equity and their cash flows, for the financial year ended on
that date; and

there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and
payable.
the audited remuneration disclosures set out on pages 26 to 31 of the directors report comply with the Accounting Standards
AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and the Corporation Regulations 2001.

The directors have been given the declarations by the Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer required
by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Peter Jonson
Chairman

Deborah Rathjen
Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director

Dated this 21 day of September 2006
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Shareholder Information
All shareholder information provided is current as at
28 August 2006.

Substantial Shareholders
Substantial holders in the Company are set out below:

Difference in Results Reported to the ASX
There are no material differences between the figures reported in
the financial statements and those lodged with the ASX in the
Company’s Appendix 4E for the year ended 30 June 2006.

Ordinary shares
Start-up Australia Ventures Pty Limited
The Australian National University
Link Traders (Aust) Pty Ltd
Duncan Mount and Boom Australia Pty
Limited (jointly)

Audit and Compliance Committee
The Company established an Audit and Compliance Committee in
July 2002. The main responsibilities of the Audit and Compliance
Committee are set out in the section headed ‘Corporate
Governance Statement’ of the Annual Report.
Corporate Governance
Bionomics’ corporate governance practices are set out in the
section headed ‘Corporate Governance Statement’ of the
Annual Report.

Number held
42,701,966
13,110,212
11,000,000
8,197,699

Equity Securities
There are 2,118 holders of ordinary shares, 443 holders of
BNOOA listed options and 61 holders of BNOOB listed options.
The number of shareholdings held in less than marketable
parcels is 1,105.
Voting Rights
There are three classes of quoted equity securities issued by the
Company, ordinary shares, BNOOA options and BNOOB options,
with voting rights attached only to the ordinary shares. One share
equates to one vote.

Distribution of Shareholders of Equity Securities

Category (size of holding)
1 – 1,000
1,001 – 5,000
5,001 – 10,000
10,001 – 100,000
100,001 – and over

Ordinary
shares
283
773
399
566
97
2,118

Restricted Equity Securities
Ordinary Shares
Shares released from escrowed at 1 July 2006
Total ordinary shares held by one shareholder
(Start-up Australia Ventures Pty Limited)
Shares Subject to Voluntary Escrow (quoted)
Until 1 July 2006
Total shares subject to voluntary escrow held by three shareholders
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Number of security holders
BNOOA listed
BNOOB listed
options
options
278
0
101
27
11
1
32
14
21
19
443
61

28,514,003
28,514,003

11,652,973
11,652,973

Unlisted
options
0
2
2
38
17
59

Shareholder Information
Twenty largest holders of each class of quoted
equity securities
The names of the 20 largest holders of each class
of quoted equity securities are listed below:

Name
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

Start-up Australia Ventures Pty Limited
The Australian National University Investment Section
Link Traders
Mr Duncan Mount and Boom Australia Pty Ltd
Mr Bernard Flynn
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited
National Nominees Limited
Mandalay Capital Pty Ltd
Asia Union Investments Pty Limited
Welas Pty Limited
Irrewarra Investments Pty Ltd
JBW Investments Pty Ltd
Blue Jay Ventures Pty Limited
Lyndoc Holdings Pty Ltd
Whyte Superannuation Custodian Pty Limited
Mr George Morstyn
ANZ Nominees Limited
G Harvey Nominees Pty Ltd
Mr Michael John Gregg & Mrs Suzanne Jane Gregg
Pine Ridge Holdings Pty Ltd

Name

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

Wallace Absolute Return Ltd
Ideas Actions Results Pty Ltd
Welas Pty Limited
Link Traders (Aust) Pty Ltd
Goffacan Pty Ltd
Boom Australia Pty Limited
Inhowse Pty Ltd
Mr Perry Richard Gunner & Mrs Felicity Jane Gunner
Mr Mark Kurtze & Mrs Fiona Kurtze
UBS Nominees Pty Ltd
Tambrakee Pty Limited
Cross Pty Limited
Mr Michael Reginald King
Mr Paul McCarthy & Mr Stephen Jessup
Phillip Securities Pte Ltd
Dr Robin Endersbee & Mrs Helen Endersbee
Mr Philip Beames & Ms Rosemary Beames
Mr James Morgan & Mrs Jane Morgan
Dragonlyn Pty Ltd
Mr Joseph Bonser & Mrs Shirley Bonser

Ordinary shares
Number held
Percentage of
issued shares
42,701,966
27.58
13,110,212
8.47
11,000,000
7.11
8,197,699
5.30
5,950,172
3.84
5,175,912
3.34
4,418,940
2.85
3,400,000
2.20
3,200,000
2.07
2,603,000
1.68
2,418,986
1.56
2,000,000
1.29
1,826,048
1.18
1,619,941
1.05
1,435,100
0.93
1,114,133
0.72
1,069,219
0.69
1,000,000
0.65
1,000,000
0.65
1,000,000
0.65
114,241,328
73.81
BNOOA Listed options
Number held
Percentage of
issued BNOOA
options
1,000,000
10.21
967,792
9.88
932,200
9.52
867,707
8.86
800,000
8.17
655,787
6.69
302,577
3.09
300,000
3.06
275,000
2.81
246,066
2.51
241,786
2.47
200,000
2.04
200,000
2.04
200,000
2.04
160,715
1.64
157,500
1.61
150,000
1.53
150,000
1.53
125,000
1.28
100,000
1.02
8,032,130
82.00
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Name

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

Start-up Australia Ventures Pty Limited
The Australian National University Investment Section
Mr Duncan Mount and Boom Australia Pty Limited
JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited
National Nominees Limited
Mandalay Capital Pty Ltd
Lyndoc Holdings Pty Ltd
Link Traders (Aust) Pty Ltd
Asia Union Investments Pty Limited
Blue Jay Ventures Pty Limited
Dior Mahnken Three Fish
JBW Investments Pty Ltd
Welas Pty Limited
Mr George Morstyn
Mr Vincent See Tan
Mr Thomas Hartigan & Mrs Felicity Hartigan
Dylyo Pty Limited
Mr Robert David Evans
Grofund Ltd
Ms Alexandra Bowie Wilson

BNOOB Listed options
Number held
Percentage of
issued BNOOB
options
9,382,716
29.75
4,938,274
15.66
4,818,006
15.28
2,470,000
7.83
2,470,000
7.83
1,600,000
5.07
1,079,961
3.42
1,000,000
3.17
500,000
1.59
494,000
1.57
493,827
1.57
300,000
0.95
290,618
0.92
247,000
0.78
200,000
0.63
166,667
0.53
133,333
0.42
100,000
0.32
100,000
0.32
100,000
0.32
30,884,402
97.93

Unquoted Equity Securities
Options
The following options were unquoted:
Options exercisable at $1.00 between 19 June 2002 and 19 June 2007
Options exercisable at $1.00 between 19 June 2003 and 19 June 2008
Options exercisable at $1.00 between 19 June 2005 and 19 June 2009
Options exercisable at $1.40 between 19 June 2005 and 19 June 2009
Options exercisable at $1.40 between 19 June 2006 and 10 June 2010
Options exercisable at $1.30 between 18 June 2003 and 18 June 2006
Options exercisable at $0.95 between 8 August 2002 and 8 August 2007
Options exercisable at $1.20 between 14 May 2003 and 14 May 2008
Options exercisable at $1.20 between 14 May 2005 and 14 May 2009
Options exercisable at $1.40 between 14 May 2005 and 14 May 2009
Options exercisable at $0.79 between 1 January 2005 and 1 January 2007
Options exercisable at $0.81 between June 2003 and June 2008
Options exercisable at $0.81 between June 2005 and June 2009
Options exercisable at $0.81 between June 2006 and June 2010
Options exercisable at $0.81 between June 2006 and June 2011
Options exercisable at $0.81 between June 2007 and June 2012
Options exercisable at $0.43 between 3 February 2005 and 3 February 2009
Options exercisable at $0.43 between 3 February 2006 and 3 February 2010
Options exercisable at $0.43 between 10 February 2003 and 13 January 2008
Options exercisable at $0.43 between 13 January 2005 and 13 January 2008
Options exercisable at $0.43 between 13 January 2006 and 13 January 2008
Options exercisable at $0.40 between 4 March 2006 and 4 March 2008
Options exercisable at $0.30 between January 2005 to January 2009
Options exercisable at $0.30 between January 2006 to January 2010
Options exercisable at $0.30 between January 2006 to January 2011
Options exercisable at $0.30 between January 2007 to January 2012
Options exercisable at $0.30 between January 2008 to January 2013
Options exercisable at $0.30 between January 2009 to January 2014
Options exercisable at $0.37 between March 2006 to March 2010
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Number
340,000
340,000
170,000
170,000
680,000
15,000
200,000
60,000
40,000
20,000
25,000
346,666
346,666
346,667
346,667
346,667
40,000
10,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
301,000
197,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
7,000

Shareholder Information
Options exercisable at $0.37 between March 2006 to March 2011
Options exercisable at $0.37 between March 2007 to March 2012
Options exercisable at $0.37 between March 2008 to March 2013
Options exercisable at $0.37 between March 2009 to March 2014
Options exercisable at $0.38 between March 2006 to March 2010
Options exercisable at $0.38 between March 2006 to March 2011
Options exercisable at $0.38 between March 2007 to March 2012
Options exercisable at $0.38 between March 2008 to March 2013
Options exercisable at $0.38 between March 2009 to March 2014
Options exercisable at $0.25 from 1 June 2005 to 1 January 2009
Options exercisable at $0.25 from 1 January 2006 to 1 January 2009
Options exercisable at $0.25 from 1 January 2006 to 1 January 2009
Options exercisable at $0.30 from 1 April 2006 to 1 April 2009
Options exercisable at $0.2766 from 14 July 2003 to 14 July 2008
Options exercisable at $0.24 from 15 November 2005 to 14 November 2009
Options exercisable at $0.21 from 15 November 2005 to 14 November 2009
Options exercisable at $0.24 from September 2006 to September 2010
Options exercisable at $0.24 from September 2006 to September 2011
Options exercisable at $0.24 from September 2007 to September 2012
Options exercisable at $0.24 from September 2008 to September 2013
Options exercisable at $0.27 from 18 January 2006 to 17 January 2010
Options exercisable at $0.26 from 8 February 2007 to 7 February 2010
Options exercisable at $0.30 from 18 February 2006 to 17 February 2011
Options exercisable at $0.30 from 18 February 2007 to 17 February 2012
Options exercisable at $0.30 from 18 February 2008 to 17 February 2013
Options exercisable at $0.30 from 18 February 2009 to 17 February 2014
Options exercisable at $0.30 from 18 February 2010 to 17 February 2015
Options exercisable at $0.27 from December 2006 to December 2010
Options exercisable at $0.27 from December 2006 to December 2011
Options exercisable at $0.27 from December 2007 to December 2012
Options exercisable at $0.27 from December 2008 to December 2013
Options exercisable at $0.27 from December 2009 to December 2014
Options exercisable at $0.27 from January 2006 to January 2011
Options exercisable at $0.27 from January 2007 to January 2012
Options exercisable at $0.27 from January 2008 to January 2013
Options exercisable at $0.27 from January 2009 to January 2014
Options exercisable at $0.27 from January 2010 to January 2015
Options exercisable at $0.13 from June 2006 to June 2011
Options exercisable at $0.13 from June 2007 to June 2012
Options exercisable at $0.13 from June 2008 to June 2013
Options exercisable at $0.13 from August 2006 to August 2011
Options exercisable at $0.13 from August 2007 to August 2012
Options exercisable at $0.13 from August 2008 to August 2013
Options exercisable at $0.13 from August 2009 to August 2014
Options exercisable at $0.13 from August 2010 to August 2015
Options exercisable at $0.11 from October 2005 to October 2010
Options exercisable at $0.24 from January 2006 to January 2011
Options exercisable at $0.24 from January 2007 to January 2012
Options exercisable at $0.24 from January 2008 to January 2013
Options exercisable at $0.24 from January 2009 to January 2014
Options exercisable at $0.24 from January 2010 to January 2015
Options exercisable at $0.24 from January 2011 to January 2016
Options exercisable at $0.20 from April 2007 to April 2012
Options exercisable at $0.20 from April 2008 to April 2013
Options exercisable at $0.20 from April 2009 to April 2014
Options exercisable at $0.20 from April 2010 to April 2015
Options exercisable at $0.20 from April 2011 to April 2016
Total unquoted options held by 48 optionholders

7,000
7,000
7,000
7,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
5,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
25,000
100,000
500,000
75,000
300,000
300,000
300,000
300,000
166,000
50,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
200,000
14,000
14,000
14,000
14,000
14,000
55,000
55,000
55,000
55,000
55,000
340,000
340,000
340,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
50,000
100,000
153,000
195,000
195,000
195,000
195,000
195,000
100,000
100,000
100,000
100,000
100,000
11,185,333
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Company Particulars
Bionomics Limited, a listed public Company, is domiciled and
incorporated in Australia.

Senior Management
Dr Deborah Rathjen

Bionomics shares and options are listed on the Australian Stock
Exchange under the codes BNO (shares) and BNOOA and BNOOB
(options).

Mr Stephen Birrell

Registered Office
31 Dalgleish Street
Thebarton SA Australia 5031
Telephone: 61 8 8354 6100

Dr Steven Petrou
Dr Frank Sams-Dodd

Administrative Office
31 Dalgleish Street
Thebarton SA Australia 5031
Telephone: 61 8 8354 6100
Facsimile: 61 8 8354 6199
E-mail: info@bionomics.com.au
Web Address: www.bionomics.com.au
Share Registry
Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
Level 5, 115 Grenfell Street
Adelaide SA Australia 5000
Telephone: 1300 556 161 (within Australia)
61 3 9415 4000 (outside Australia)
E-mail: web.queries@computershare.com.au
Web Address: www.computershare.com
Solicitors
Johnson Winter & Slattery
211 Victoria Square
Adelaide SA Australia 5000
Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Santos House, 91 King William Street
Adelaide SA Australia 5000
Patent Attorneys
Griffith Hack
167 Eagle Street
Brisbane QLD Australia 4000
Davies Collison Cave
1 Nicholson Street
Melbourne VIC Australia 3000
Bionomics is not listed on any other stock exchanges other
than the ASX.
Directors
Dr Peter Jonson
Dr Deborah Rathjen
Dr George Jessup
Mr Trevor Tappenden
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Dr Bernard Flynn
Dr Gabriel Kremmidiotis

Chairman
Chief Executive Officer and
Managing Director
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
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Dr Ian Street
Dr Alex Szabo

Chief Executive Officer and
Managing Director
Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary
Vice President Chemistry
Vice President Cancer
Research
Vice President Consultant
CNS Research
Vice President Pre Clinical
Research and General
Manager, Neurofit SAS
Vice President Consultant
Drug Discovery
Vice President Business
Development

Scientific Advisors
Professor Grant Sutherland AC, PhD, DSc, FRACP, FAA, FRS
Professor Samuel Berkovic AM MD, FAA, FRACP
Dr Errol De Souza PhD
Dr Tim Harris PhD, MSc, BSc
Mr Richard Morgan, C Biol, MI Biol Dip RC Path
Associate Professor Danny Rischin, MBBS Hons
Bionomics has an American Depositary Receipts program (ADRs)
sponsored by The Bank of New York, under the ticker code
‘BMICY’. For further details about this program, please contact:
United States
The Bank of New York
Investor Services
PO Box 11258
Church Street Station
New York NY 10286-1258
Telephone: 1 (610) 382 7836
E-mail: shareowners@bankofny.com
or visit The Bank of New York’s
websites at www.stockbny.com or www.adrbny.com
Australia
Ms Donna Kiely
Relationship Manager
Depositary Receipt Division
Australia & New Zealand
The Bank of New York
Level 5
350 Collins Street
Melbourne VIC 3000
Telephone: 61 3 9640 3908
Facsimile: 61 3 9602 1236
E-mail: dkiely@bankofny.com

Bionomics Limited: 31 Dalgleish Street, Thebarton SA, Australia 5031. ABN 53 075 582 740

